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 1            MR. PUTZU:  Good morning and welcome to the  

 2   October 6th public hearing of the independent review  

 3   of judge advocate requirements of the Department of  

 4   Navy.  I'm Frank Putzu.  I'm the designated federal  

 5   officer for this panel.   

 6            This panel was established pursuant to  

 7   section 506 of the National Defense Authorization  

 8   Act of fiscal year 10.  It is a nondiscretionary  

 9   committee under the Federal Advisory Committee Act,  

10   also known as FACA.   

11            The panel has met all time requirements  

12   established in statute and under FACA, including  

13   holding its first public hearing on September 1st.   

14   This will be our second public hearing, and there  

15   will be another public hearing next week, October  

16   13th, at the same time and place. 

17            In accordance with FACA, a notice for this  

18   hearing was published in the Federal Register on  

19   September 17th, 2010, meeting the 15-day notice  

20   requirement under FACA.  For informational purposes,  

21   that notice also identified the October 13th  

22   meeting.  All documents related to this panel are  

23   available to the public at the front of the room on  

24   the table to my right.  Documents are also available  

25   on the GSA Web site at  
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 1   https://www.fido.gov/facadatabase/logon.asp.   

 2            GSA is in the process of conducting its  

 3   annual audit of its FACA database, and we're unable  

 4   to download new documents at the moment until that  

 5   audit is completed.  We expect that audit to be  

 6   completed in the late October/early November time  

 7   frame.  To expand public accessibility to the  

 8   information generated by the panel, we have  

 9   established a new Web site to download documents.   

10   That's located at  

11   http://sites.google.com/site/506panel/documents.   

12   There should also be a link to that Web site from  

13   the FACA database.  The transcript for the September  

14   1st hearing is located on the Google Web site.  It  

15   is also available for review at our offices at the  

16   Navy annex.   

17            Agendas for today's hearing are available  

18   at the table and have been distributed to folks as  

19   they've been walking in.  Please avail yourself to a  

20   copy.  Please note that the panel will be having an  

21   administrative meeting over the lunch hour today in  

22   accordance with FACA.  For informal purposes, if any  

23   person here wants to order lunch, that's available  

24   to you in this room; please see Ms. Gloria Williams  

25   in the back of the room.   
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 1            All panel members are present -- welcome --  



 2   today, so we do have a full quorum, and we're able  

 3   to proceed. 

 4            Request all questions, written or oral,  

 5   please send through me as the designated federal  

 6   officer.  If I am not available for any reason,  

 7   please send your questions or comments to  

 8   Mr. Michael McGregor, the staff director and  

 9   constitutionally appointed alternate designated  

10   federal officer.  All comments are encouraged.  We  

11   welcome them.  Please note that all comments,  

12   written or oral, are likely to be posted to the  

13   Web site and made public.   

14            In accordance with FACA, I as the  

15   designated federal officer will be present at all  

16   times today.  A court reporter is present today to  

17   render a verbatim transcript of the events as they  

18   happen in this room.  That, too, will be posted to  

19   the Web site when it is available and has been  

20   properly cleared by the chairman of this panel,  

21            Chairman Dell'Orto. 

22            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Thank you, Frank.   

23            Thank you, again, to the staff for  

24   coordinating this meeting.  Also want to thank  

25   Vice Admiral MacDonald and other witnesses who will  
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 1   be appearing today.  This is, as Frank has  

 2   indicated, our second meeting, and I think we are  

 3   ready to proceed.   

 4            Admiral MacDonald. 

 5            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Thank you, very  

 6   much.  I've got a series of slides that I think you  

 7   all have in front of you that I'd like to go through  

 8   this morning just to give you a sense of the current  

 9   manning that we have at military commissions.  Just  

10   to kind of break down the slides, slides 2 through  

11   7, they're provided to give you the history behind  

12   the personnel authorizations related to military  

13   commissions, and they're followed by slides 8  

14   through 16, which actually give current assignments  

15   broken down by service to give a sense of how we're  

16   doing, how each of the services are doing with  

17   respect to their manning requirements. 

18            Can I get the next slide. 

19            So we start off in 21 June of 2002.  This  

20   is Secretary Wolfowitz, this was the initial  

21   authorization of 40 total military billets and  

22   25 civilian billets.  They were all under the  

23   control of the Defense Legal Services Agency, and  

24   this authorization was until June 2005.   

25            I think one of the things you're going to  
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 1   see in these slides is I think there was a belief  

 2   that military commissions would move much more  



 3   quickly than they actually have, so these  

 4   authorizations were done in three four-year  

 5   increments, I think under the belief that we would  

 6   be much farther along or, in fact, completed with  

 7   commissions by the time of the expiration date.  So  

 8   you'll see on these future slides that the  

 9   DEPSECDEF, when they increase the manning at  

10   commissions, would then move the date further down  

11   the road in terms of how long that authorization  

12   will stay in effect.   

13            Next slide. 

14            The next action was taken on 2 December  

15   2004, and as you can see, the increase in manning  

16   was a total of 65 military and 51 civilian billets.   

17   This was initially done on 2 December 2004 by  

18   Secretary Wolfowitz on 16 July 2005.  The new deputy  

19   Secretary of Defense Gordon England came in and  

20   approved this current mix, 65 and 51, and approved  

21   it out until 2 December of 2007. 

22            Next slide. 

23            This was the next increase and manning at  

24   commissions.  This was a direct result, if you look  

25   at the date, 20 November 2006, the Hamdan decision  
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 1   was given by the Supreme Court in the Spring of  

 2   2006.  That was followed by hearings and the 2006  

 3   Military Commissions Act, and after that act was  

 4   passed, this new authorization came out from the  

 5   Deputy Secretary of Defense.  So this was in  

 6   response to the fact that Congress had now  

 7   authorized military commissions and that more cases  

 8   were going to be sent to commissions; therefore, it  

 9   needed additional personnel assigned to it.  The  

10   total at this time extended out through December  

11   2009 was 93 military and 51 civilians. 

12            Next slide. 

13            In 2 May 2008 Secretary England decided to  

14   continue the current military level at 92.  He also  

15   approved the extension of all civilian positions  

16   until 2 December 2012.  There was no increase in  

17   numbers.  This was simply pushing out the date that  

18   these authorizations would continue to remain in  

19   effect until 2 December 2012.  That's the date that  

20   we're operating under right now.  This would  

21   require, if commissions continue, it will require a  

22   reauthorization from the new deputy secretary of  

23   defense to continue beyond 2 December of 2012.   

24   Otherwise, commissions goes away. 

25            Next slide. 
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 1            In 14 May of 2008, Secretary England  

 2   authorized an additional 114 military billets.  This  

 3   was -- there was no change to the civilian billets,  



 4   but this was a direct result of more commissions  

 5   cases being sent over to the office of military  

 6   commissions to try.  And that is where we stand  

 7   today.  The total authorization that I operate under  

 8   now is 206 military personnel and 51 civilians.   

 9   That's our total authorization for a total of 257.   

10            Excuse me, can I have the next slide.   

11            There was one other activity that took  

12   place, Washington Headquarter Service provided an  

13   additional 36 civilian billets, so the total is 206,  

14   87 civilian, for 293.  All of these have shifted, by  

15   the way, to Washington Headquarter Service.  There  

16   are only certain billets, mostly the attorney  

17   billets, that are assigned to commissions that  

18   remain under DLSA.  All of the administrative  

19   support that is provided, the civilian personnel,  

20   all of that comes now from Washington Headquarter  

21   Service.  In the beginning, it all came out of the  

22   DLSA, Defense Legal Services Agency. 

23            Next slide. 

24            Okay.  Those are the authorizations.  This  

25   is the actual currently assigned, these are the  
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 1   people that I actually have on board right now.   

 2   This is the total for military.  Of the 206 that are  

 3   authorized, I have 158 assigned, and they're broken  

 4   down, as you can see on this chart, between OMC  

 5   prosecution defense, my office in the convening  

 6   authority, and the trial judiciary, the way you see  

 7   it here. 

 8            Next slide. 

 9            This is the civilian breakdown.  I have 50  

10   of 87 total authorizations. 

11            Next slide. 

12            Now I'm going to talk about the individual  

13   service assignments so you get a sense of where the  

14   contribution is coming from.  I know you're  

15   particularly interested in the Navy and in the  

16   Marine Corps, so I'll start with those.   

17            You can see the Navy is doing very well.   

18   They have 56 assigned to 58 total authorizations,  

19   and you can see how they're broken down on this  

20   slide between attorneys, paralegals, criminal  

21   advisors, court reporters, and administrative  

22   staff.  I've done this for all of the services that  

23   you're going to see.  So these are the Navy numbers. 

24            Can I have the next slide. 

25            These are the Marine Corps numbers, 21  
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 1   assigned of 21 authorizations that were given to the  

 2   Marine Corps to fill, so they're at a hundred  

 3   percent. 

 4            Next slide. 



 5            The Army has 42 assigned.  Their total is  

 6   65 that they are authorized to provide.   

 7            The breakdown -- next slide.   

 8            The Air Force has currently 39 assigned of  

 9   61 authorizations. 

10            If you're interested, for all of the  

11   services, I have the grades broken out, as well.  I  

12   know, Mr. Dell'Orto, you were very interested, I  

13   think, in the experience level of the attorneys and  

14   the paralegals assigned.  If you'd like me to  

15   discuss that, I can have those broken down in my  

16   notes for each of the services in terms of O6s, O5s,  

17   O4s, and E9s, E8s, E7s, if you want to get into that  

18   when I get finished. 

19            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Sure. 

20            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  We'll go back to  

21   the Navy slide.  We'll start with the attorneys.   

22   I'm just going to go across the slide.  For OMC  

23   prosecution, you see that they have 12 Navy  

24   attorneys assigned to the prosecution function.  Of  

25   those 12, four are O6s, two are O5s, two are O4s,  
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 1   and four are O3s.  So those numbers again, four  

 2   captains, two commanders, two lieutenant commanders,  

 3   and four lieutenants. 

 4            For attorneys at OMC defense, the breakdown  

 5   is two O6s, two captains; five O5s, five commanders;  

 6   and eight O4s, eight lieutenant commanders.  And at  

 7   OMC headquarters in my office I have one Navy  

 8   lieutenant who is assigned to my legal staff. 

 9            On the paralegal count, of the ten  

10   paralegals that you see assigned to OMC prosecution,  

11   one is an E7, chief petty officer; eight are E6s,  

12   first class petty officers; and one is an E5, second  

13   class petty officer. 

14            In defense two E7s, two chief petty  

15   officers; eight E6s, first class petty officers; and  

16   three E5s, second class petty officers. 

17            I have one E6 assigned to my staff at  

18   commissions.  The criminal investigators are two O4  

19   lieutenant commanders; and I have the court  

20   reporters, I have one E5 assigned administrative  

21   staff; I have one E7 assigned. 

22            So those are the Navy numbers. 

23            On the Marine Corps, those numbers at OMC  

24   prosecution -- can I have the next slide for Marine  

25   Corps. 
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 1            Of the seven attorneys assigned to  

 2   prosecution, three are O5s, two are O4s, and two are  

 3   O3s. 

 4            Defense, the Marine Corps has one O6  

 5   assigned, one O5 assigned, two O4s assigned, and two  



 6   O3s assigned.  Paralegals in prosecution, three E7s,  

 7   one E5, and one E4.  Paralegals in defense, two E6s  

 8   and one E5. 

 9            Next slide. 

10            The Army breakdown for prosecution two O5s,  

11   two O4s, and three O3s. 

12            For defense the breakdown for the Army is  

13   one O5, three O4s, and one O3. 

14            In my office I have two O6s.  The trial  

15   judiciary has one O6 assigned to administrative  

16   tasks and running the trial judiciary. 

17            Paralegals, the Army has assigned to  

18   prosecution four E7s and four E6s. 

19            On the defense, they've assigned two E7s,  

20   three E6s, and two E5s. 

21            In my office I have three E7s, two E6s, and  

22   two E5s, and the trial judiciary has one E6.  Also,  

23   the Army has two warrant officers assigned to  

24   defense as criminal investigators.  Also have one  

25   court reporter, E7, and one warrant officer assigned  
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 1   to my staff as the administrative officer in the  

 2   office. 

 3            Next slide. 

 4            Air Force numbers.  In prosecution, the  

 5   Air Force has assigned one O6, two O5s, six O4s, and  

 6   one O3.  In defense, the Air Force has assigned one  

 7   O5 attorney, seven O4 attorneys, and two O3  

 8   attorneys.  They also have one O4 attorney assigned  

 9   to the trial judiciary. 

10            Paralegals, the Air Force has assigned four  

11   E7s to prosecution, three E6s to prosecution, and  

12   two E5s to prosecution.  To the defense the  

13   Air Force has assigned three E7s and three E6s.  And  

14   they have one O5 criminal investigator and one E6  

15   criminal investigator assigned, and they've assigned  

16   one E7 court reporter, as well. 

17            So those are the breakdowns in all of the  

18   services in terms of the personnel that are  

19   currently assigned and the breakdown by grade for  

20   all the services. 

21            Can I get the next slide. 

22            This is a billet that is currently  

23   unfilled.  It's designated as a serviceman material  

24   billet, and this is the Guantanamo OIC position.  I  

25   have filled this currently with a civilian, I've  
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 1   hired a civilian to perform this function, and I  

 2   don't anticipate we're going to go to the services  

 3   to ask for that to be filled, but I want you to know  

 4   that's out there and on the books. 

 5            Next slide. 

 6            These are the military trial judge  



 7   assignments.  Please understand these are in  

 8   addition to their current duties in their service as  

 9   trial judges, so this is essentially part-time work,  

10   if you will, for each of the services when they  

11   assign a trial judge to the commissions process.   

12   And that's the way it's been since the inception of  

13   commissions.  And this is the breakdown that you see  

14   that we currently have.  And all services have  

15   assigned all of their judges.  And the Navy, that is  

16   the Navy and Marine Corps, that's included in that.   

17   So Navy and Marine Corps, their number is three, and  

18   the Navy and Marine Corps currently has three  

19   assigned out of the three required, as does the  

20   Army, as does the Air Force. 

21            Next slide. 

22            This is the U.S. Court of military  

23   commissions review.  Again, the Navy numbers include  

24   the Navy and Marine Corps, four assigned, four  

25   required.  Army has made its number.  The Air Force  
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 1   has made its number, as well.  They're just  

 2   currently in the process of switching out two of  

 3   their military appellate counsel.  They've actually  

 4   nominated two replacements, and that's currently  

 5   being reviewed, those nominations are currently  

 6   being reviewed, and they're up to the deputy  

 7   secretary defense for review. 

 8            Those are all the slides, Mr. Dell'Orto,  

 9   that I have for you.  I just wanted to give you a  

10   flavor of the history of these assignments, which I  

11   know you're very familiar with from your past  

12   assignments, and an understanding of the breakdown.   

13            The other thing that I wanted to mention to  

14   the panel is, given where we are with commissions  

15   today, I'm perfectly happy with all of the services  

16   and the numbers that they've given us.  We don't  

17   have enough cases right now for me to push for my  

18   full authorizations.  So the numbers that you saw up  

19   here, while they look pretty stark with respect to  

20   maybe the Army and the Air Force as compared to the  

21   Navy and Marine Corps in terms of assignments, we're  

22   doing just fine, given the fact that we only have a  

23   very small number of cases that we're currently  

24   allowed to proceed on.  So with that, I open it up  

25   for any questions. 
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 1            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Why the shortfall for  

 2   the Air Force and the Army? 

 3            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Well, I've talked  

 4   to the TJAG of the Air Force, and I've allowed the  

 5   Air Force and the Army to not assign people.  They  

 6   have other missions that they've said they need to  

 7   assign folks to, and up to this point, the way we're  



 8   dealing with this is kind of taking it day by day,  

 9   see where commissions go.  And it really depends on  

10   what the president and the attorney general do with  

11   respect to commissions.  If we remain at the current  

12   levels, we'll be done in pretty short order, I  

13   think, with commissions, so what I've allowed in  

14   particular in talking to General Harding at the  

15   Air Force, he asked if he could delay assigning  

16   three of his prosecutors to the prosecution  

17   function, keep them in Washington, DC, close by,  

18   such that if we got the word that we were going, if  

19   we got additional cases assigned to commissions,  

20   then Rich Harding is ready to assign them over to  

21   the prosecution function.   

22            Frankly, we don't have enough work at this  

23   point to keep them all busy, so we talk a lot about  

24   assignments and filling some of these billets,  

25   simply because there's just not the caseload that I  
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 1   think we expected at this point. 

 2            MR. OSMAN:  Admiral MacDonald, you went  

 3   through the grade structure.  Is that satisfactory  

 4   for you, the breakdown, the pay grades?   

 5            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  That's a great  

 6   question.  It's satisfactory, in my opinion, it's  

 7   satisfactory as we sit here today.  If a decision is  

 8   made to send other cases, high value detainee cases  

 9   beyond the cold cases which we currently have, if we  

10   got additional HVD cases and additional non-HVD  

11   cases assigned to commissions, if we really started  

12   to ramp up and, in particular, if the decision was  

13   made to send the 9-11 cases back to commissions, my  

14   answer to that would be, no, I'm not satisfied with  

15   it, and let me be clear about this.  It's experience  

16   in the courtroom that I'm talking about. 

17            Every attorney that the services have  

18   assigned, they are wonderfully talented, incredibly  

19   motivated, but in the main, pretty inexperienced  

20   in-the-courtroom attorneys.  It's satisfactory for  

21   what we have today, but I would not be satisfied  

22   with this if the decision was made to send some of  

23   these other cases that I mentioned to military  

24   commissions.  I have raised that up the chain of  

25   command, all of that is wrapped up in this decision  
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 1   about what to do with respect to Article 3 courts  

 2   and commissions down the road.  We're just not there  

 3   yet, and I don't know when we're going to get  

 4   there.  I don't have any information on that. 

 5            MR. MOLZAHN:  Admiral, I'll use this  

 6   because I know it helps the court reporter.   

 7            You said that if you don't get any  

 8   additional cases, you'd be finished in relatively  



 9   short order.  Can you give me an idea what you meant  

10   by relatively short order. 

11            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  When President  

12   Obama, you remember that there was a one-year delay  

13   where an attempt to assess in a number of different  

14   areas, detention policy, looking at closing  

15   Guantanamo, looking at military commissions and  

16   Article 3 courts, and trying to develop a protocol  

17   that would help shape and guide future decision  

18   making with respect to whether to go to federal  

19   court or whether to go to military commissions.  At  

20   that time the secretary of defense essentially said,  

21   the prosecution can continue to investigate cases,  

22   but there will be no more swearing of charges or  

23   referral of charges.   

24            We still remain under that SECDEF mandate,  

25   not to swear or not to refer any additional  
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 1   charges.  So we're really in the mode of waiting to  

 2   see what the attorney general decides and what the  

 3   president decides to do with respect to commissions  

 4   and federal court.  Until they do that, I really  

 5   can't make any personnel decisions to even get ready  

 6   for it.  I mean, it would be, I just don't know what  

 7   the future is.  And until we get that, that  

 8   decision, I guess my point to you today is that I'm  

 9   comfortable with the experience level and with the  

10   numbers that I have, we can do the cases that we're  

11   currently assigned.   

12            You may recall in, I think it was November  

13   of last year, the attorney general came out and made  

14   a statement where he assigned a certain number of  

15   cases back to military commissions, the cold cases  

16   being one of those, the Khadr case, the Noor Uthman  

17   Muhammed case, and the Al Qosi case, which we just  

18   finished up, being among those.  Those are the only  

19   cases that we have currently active right now.  When  

20   we're finished with those, then we'll be in a  

21   waiting mode to see what the decision with respect  

22   to how many more we're going to get, if any.  I just  

23   don't know. 

24            MS. MILLER:  Admiral MacDonald, if it  

25   turned out there was a green light, and the  
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 1   additional number of cases were charged over to the  

 2   commissions, are you satisfied that there are enough  

 3   experienced lawyers within the overall JAG corps  

 4   available to you that you, putting aside assignments  

 5   for a moment, that you would be able to staff  

 6   someone to do it? 

 7            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Yes.  I also have  

 8   talked with DOJ.  This is going to be a  

 9   collaborative effort.  This is going to be, I would  



10   like to see this as a DOJ/DOD effort going forward,  

11   and I'm satisfied there are enough, and, in fact,  

12   I've polled the services and maintain a list of  

13   folks that I would like to see assigned to  

14   commissions if these cases get back, if they're  

15   assigned to us, and it's based on, as you can  

16   imagine, my own experience as the former judge  

17   advocate general of the Navy and people on my staff  

18   who know that the talent pool that's out there  

19   amongst the services.   

20            This is going to be a paradigm shift,  

21   there's no doubt about it.  I would only push for  

22   that, again, if we got some of the more serious  

23   cases assigned.  I just feel if we're going to do  

24   those kinds of cases, then we have to put our very  

25   best, not only prosecutors, I'm talking defense  
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 1   counsel, as well, and I've made it clear that if we  

 2   get these cases, these experienced military  

 3   litigators are going to go to the defense and the  

 4   prosecution.  We have to put our best, our most  

 5   experienced.  I've got to be very clear about this.   

 6   Because the young talent that we currently have,  

 7   they're terrific.  It's just that, if you look at  

 8   their background, they lack a lot of courtroom  

 9   experience that some of the more senior attorneys  

10   that we don't have currently assigned to commissions  

11   that they have.  Now, there's a very good reason for  

12   that, and I was one of the judge advocate generals  

13   who assigned, over the last three years of my active  

14   duty, assigned some of the more inexperienced  

15   counsel to commissions, but that was done  

16   intentionally on our part.  I can -- I had these  

17   conversations with my fellow TJAGs at the time, and  

18   it was -- we were trying to balance the competing  

19   personnel issues related to service in Iraq and  

20   Afghanistan.  So we had General Petraeus, General  

21   McChrystal asking for our most experienced counsel  

22   to come and serve in the war zone, and based on the  

23   track record with commissions at the time, we  

24   thought that in terms of priority, our most  

25   experienced people ought to go over to Afghanistan  
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 1   and Iraq, so we sent some less experienced but very  

 2   talented mid-grade attorneys and younger attorneys  

 3   into the commissions process.  And quite frankly, we  

 4   were of the opinion that, prove to us that you can  

 5   do these cases, that you can get them over the  

 6   finish line, and then we'll start assigning our more  

 7   experienced people to you.  That was our thought  

 8   process at the time. 

 9            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  And can we go back  

10   for just a moment.  Among the Marine and Navy judge  



11   advocates, are there reserve officers in those  

12   numbers? 

13            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Yes, there are. 

14            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Reserve and active  

15   duty? 

16            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Actually, all of  

17   the services have done that where they've gone in  

18   their reserve corps, and they've asked their reserve  

19   officers to step forward, I don't have the  

20   breakdown.  I could provide that if you're  

21   interested in that to see how many of the folks that  

22   I've talked to about the numbers that I've mentioned  

23   are active duty and reserve. 

24            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  If we could,  

25   Mr. Chairman, that might be helpful to provide to  
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 1   staff. 

 2            Do you have a policy with regard to a mix  

 3   of reserve and active that you want to see assigned  

 4   to OMC, or is it whatever they want to see?   

 5            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  No.  I leave that,  

 6   and I believe my predecessor's have left that  

 7   completely to the services in relation to numbers.   

 8   The judge advocates know the competing demands that  

 9   are being placed on their corps.  I don't want to  

10   step into the shoes of the TJAGs and try to dictate  

11   to them, other than the experience level, again,  

12   with that one circumstance, if commissions really  

13   start to move forward, then I intend to go and talk  

14   to each of the TJAGs and, you know, I've talked to  

15   the SECDEF about this and the DOD counsel, and they  

16   know my feelings on this, then I would go to them  

17   and say, we really need to have your most  

18   experienced litigators assigned to the commissions  

19   process moving forward with this.  But beyond that,  

20   having served in this position, I know that in a  

21   wartime environment there are other demands out  

22   there for active and reserve attorneys, and I leave  

23   that to the TJAGs. 

24            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Thank you. 

25            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Three questions. 
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 1            How many cold cases are there right now? 

 2            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  How many? 

 3            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Cold cases. 

 4            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Two.  There's the  

 5   Al Nashir and the Al Darbi cases that we currently  

 6   have. 

 7            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Do you currently have  

 8   DOJ attorneys working various cases?   

 9            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Yes.  On the cold  

10   cases we have a DOJ/DOD partnership.  Not on all of  

11   the cases, and that's something that I've been  



12   working with DOJ to correct.  I would like to see,  

13   as I mentioned before, DOJ and DOD partnership on  

14   the prosecution side on each of these cases.  I just  

15   think it's important that we have the experience,  

16   that experience level from the DOJ side and the DOD  

17   side. 

18            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Last question.  If  

19   there were a determination made tomorrow to send  

20   cases back to commissions where they have previously  

21   been there, what sort of numbers do you anticipate  

22   you might -- you could possibly receive, and how  

23   quickly do you think you would get the more  

24   experienced attorneys channeled to you?   

25            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  That depends on, I  
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 1   think that depends on how energized I think DOD  

 2   would get on assisting and going to each of the  

 3   services.  I really need DEPSECDEF support to go to  

 4   the service secretaries and the service chiefs and  

 5   say, what I'm really waiting for is, okay, we're in  

 6   it.  We really support commissions, we are moving  

 7   forward with commissions, and if I heard that, then  

 8   I would be going to the DEPSECDEF and the DOD  

 9   general counsel and asking for their personal  

10   involvement in going to the service sectors and  

11   service chiefs and saying, we need you to assign  

12   your most experienced people to the commissions  

13   process. 

14            I think, Mr. Dell'Orto, with the numbers  

15   that you saw here, the authorizations, that if we  

16   filled all of our authorizations with, and the  

17   caveat is, with DOJ participation, continued DOJ,  

18   and I would argue, I would need some additional, I  

19   think, DOJ attorneys assigned to it to be able to do  

20   all of the cases that might be assigned. 

21            MS. MILLER:  Could I follow up just on the  

22   DOJ collaboration point, which suggests that if  

23   there was a sea shift in terms of cases landing  

24   would be particularly well situated on a prosecution  

25   side, and I'm curious to know how you're thinking  
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 1   about whether or not you can balance that.  I heard  

 2   you already say that you think you have to have  

 3   strong attorneys assigned to both, but our tendency  

 4   to look at what DOD is providing, kind of equal  

 5   there, then you think it's okay, but if you're  

 6   actually getting additional only from the Department  

 7   of Justice, in your planning are you thinking about  

 8   how to address that? 

 9            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Do you mean how  

10   the numbers from DOJ, actual number, contribution? 

11            MS. MILLER:  I'm thinking about on the  

12   defense side, whether or not you're going to have an  



13   adequate -- 

14            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Yes. 

15            MS. MILLER:  -- force in the field to deal  

16   with the collaboration on the prosecution side. 

17            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Yeah.  There  

18   really hasn't been any want of civilian defense  

19   attorneys assigned who have not been willing to  

20   raise their hand and join the defense team.  I'm  

21   pretty comfortable with how robust the defense teams  

22   have been and how they're currently constituted.   

23   Really, the only thing that I think would be in my  

24   power to control would be the experience level of  

25   the military defense counsel that get assigned to  
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 1   commissions.  What I want to make absolutely sure is  

 2   that it's as level a playing field and based on  

 3   experience and talent as we can get on the military  

 4   side of the house.  I can, as we have been, I can  

 5   work with DOJ to try to get them to assign people on  

 6   the prosecution side.  There are no guarantees  

 7   there.  On the civilian side, on the defense counsel  

 8   side, as I said, they really have been -- these  

 9   cases that I've seen all have had strong civilian  

10   defense counsel support on the team. 

11            MS. MILLER:  Thank you. 

12            MR. MOLZAHN:  Bruce, you may have answered  

13   this question, and I just kind of missed it, but in  

14   answer to the question about if we got serious about  

15   commissions, whether the authorized numbers you  

16   have, you think, are enough, you talked about DOJ  

17   collaboration and more of that.  Do you think the  

18   authorized numbers that you have on the uniform side  

19   would be sufficient? 

20            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Yes.  I mean, if  

21   we filled -- if we filled the authorizations that  

22   you currently saw up there, those numbers, and we  

23   filled all of the -- not only the military billets,  

24   but the civilian billets, the support staff that  

25   would go with this, with the continued DOJ attorneys  
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 1   assigned, and that support, my feeling is, given  

 2   numbers that we're talking about and the number that  

 3   I've heard is 35, max 35 additional cases, that's  

 4   the total number that potentially could come our  

 5   way.  Now, I haven't racked and stacked all those.   

 6   I've asked the chief prosecutor to do just that.  My  

 7   feeling is not all cases are the same, and we need a  

 8   strategic prosecution plan should we get these cases  

 9   to kind of rack and stack all of them and make smart  

10   decisions about which ones we're going to refer and  

11   which ones we may not refer.  But 35 is what I  

12   understand to be kind of the known universe after  

13   that yearlong review of potentially triable cases by  



14   commissions or Article 3 courts. 

15            MR. MOLZAHN:  Another question, Bruce.  If  

16   you could think back, I know you could in your basis  

17   as JAG, I mean, you worked hard to improve the  

18   Department of Navy Marine Court to handle military  

19   justice.  One of the challenges was the number of  

20   cases, the need to reduce experienced litigators.  I  

21   assume all of the services would respond if you  

22   needed those talented, experienced litigators if the  

23   commission went full speed ahead.  What do you think  

24   the impact would be on the Navy and the Marine  

25   Corps's ability to continue their -- the job they  
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 1   will continue to have, which is to handle military  

 2   justice cases, if you kind of skim the cream off the  

 3   experienced top?   

 4            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  That's a great  

 5   question.  I think each of the service JAGs, that's,  

 6   I think, a discussion we're going have to have with  

 7   them to see how many they can afford to assign to  

 8   commissions and continue to perform their core  

 9   mission of military justice.  I just feel that, I'm  

10   looking at this, as well, Bill, from the perspective  

11   of I've now switched hats, and I'm very concerned  

12   about experience level should we get some of these  

13   more serious cases assigned.  We have to put on both  

14   sides our most experienced people in front of these  

15   cases, but I think that's going to be a debate that  

16   we're going have to have with TJAGs, because I know  

17   they also have cases that they have to continue to  

18   prosecute and to defend.   

19            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  I'd like to ask a  

20   question that goes the other direction.  If, in fact  

21   this administration is successful, and the president  

22   decides to close Guantanamo and if a decision is  

23   made to refer all those cases started with the  

24   courts, do you envision the role of support from OMC  

25   contributing? 
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 1            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  No.  I think that  

 2   we would start to disestablish.  That's my opinion.   

 3   I haven't talked to anybody about that.  But I don't  

 4   see -- I think you may see that in some of the cases  

 5   that have currently -- are currently being  

 6   investigated and worked up by some of these military  

 7   prosecutors, they may be asked to go with the case  

 8   to federal court, but I don't think that's going to  

 9   happen.  I think if the decision was made to go  

10   exclusively to Article 3 courts, then we would  

11   disestablish the commissions process. 

12            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  What former commission  

13   cases have been tried in Article 3 courts right now? 

14            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  I believe Galani,  



15   I think, which is ongoing right now in New York.   

16   That was a commissions case.  I'm not familiar with  

17   any others that started in commissions and have  

18   moved now out with the exception, obviously, we went  

19   through the arraignment of the 9-11 detainees down  

20   in Guantanamo, and those cases were pulled up to the  

21   Southern District of New York and remain there.  So  

22   those cases, I think, would fit your question. 

23            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Going again to the  

24   experience question, is it not true that at this  

25   point, much of the experience really resides in the  
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 1   upper grade levels across the board, so you have, if  

 2   we're going the look at pure courtroom experience in  

 3   large part, and this is a question, I don't know  

 4   this for a fact, but I'm assuming that it's fact,  

 5   many of the more experienced litigators are not in  

 6   military justice these days.  They're out mostly  

 7   probably in the O6 level these days doing things  

 8   other than justice; is that not accurate? 

 9            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  I think that's  

10   accurate.  Those that were passionate about military  

11   justice and remained in it and were fortunate enough  

12   to be selected to O5 and O6, those would be some of  

13   the people I'm going after.  I've got people from my  

14   prior time in the Navy in mind who have been  

15   successful in staying in military justice their  

16   entire careers, and predominantly in the courtroom,  

17   both on the prosecution defense side and as some of  

18   them are currently military judges.  Those would be  

19   the kinds of people that I would be after, that have  

20   managed to navigate the promotion system  

21   successfully, O6, and remain most of their career in  

22   military justice. 

23            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Or perhaps did not  

24   stay in military justice but had a world of  

25   experience when they were O3s as trial and defense  
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 1   counsel? 

 2            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Right. 

 3            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  So really what you  

 4   would be doing, if you're successful in grabbing the  

 5   most experienced people is stripping leadership  

 6   ranks of all three, of all four services to get  

 7   experienced counsel you want? 

 8            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Yes.  I mean, I  

 9   guess the thing to keep in mind is there was --  

10   there has always been over the past since we've been  

11   involved after 9-11 after Afghanistan and Iraq, that  

12   has always been this tension between filling  

13   operational law, international law type billets in  

14   the war zone and, in my case, military commissions.   

15   There has been this balancing act that I think the  



16   TJAGs have tried to navigate in where is the  

17   greatest need today.  I think in the past, certainly  

18   from my perspective as the Navy TJAG, it was I send  

19   my most experienced people to Iraq and Afghanistan,  

20   and until commissions starts moving, I'm not going  

21   to send my most experienced people to those  

22   assignments, and I think other TJAGs that I worked  

23   with would say the same thing. 

24            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Any further  

25   questions?  Members of the panel? 
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 1            MS. MILLER:  Just maybe an editorial  

 2   comment, which is I completely understand what  

 3   you've said about the tensions in deciding how to  

 4   assign experienced versus somewhat less experienced  

 5   people, but the other thing, obviously, to keep in  

 6   mind, and I think you are, if the military  

 7   commissions do start rolling, if we don't really put  

 8   on a world class performance, we're going to  

 9   undermine the integrity of the overall military  

10   justice system in a way that would really, I think,  

11   change in a very bad way the mindset of our both our  

12   military in the United States and how we're looked  

13   at abroad.   

14            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  I agree with that  

15   completely.  If we're serious about military  

16   commissions, you know, to me, this is the time for  

17   our JAG corps to shine, and to do that, you have to  

18   go, I think, with the best and brightest and most  

19   experienced in the courtroom, and I think that's  

20   something that we need to keep in mind is you can be  

21   a wonderfully talented attorney but just not have  

22   the kind of litigation skills to navigate in a  

23   courtroom.  I think to be a successful litigator you  

24   have to have done case after case after case, and  

25   that's what I'm really looking for if we start  
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 1   focusing on doing these cases in a military  

 2   commissions context is those attorneys that are  

 3   wonderfully talented but have that kind of  

 4   experience base and, as I said, I'd love to pair  

 5   them up with a DOJ counterpart kind of moving  

 6   forward on the prosecution side, and we're going to  

 7   have to make sure that we do the same type of thing  

 8   on the defense side where we can control it with the  

 9   military defense counsel.  But I think that's  

10   exactly right. 

11            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Any further comments,  

12   questions?   

13            Admiral MacDonald, any final words of  

14   advice or thoughts for us? 

15            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  No.  I think I've  

16   said everything that I wanted to come and let you  



17   know on the experience side.  You know, we're just  

18   in the waiting mode right now, and I wish I had more  

19   to tell you on when a decision is going to be made,  

20   but I just -- I have no idea when the  

21   administration's going to make the call on whether  

22   to proceed in Article 3, whether to go to military  

23   commissions, or whether we're going to continue to  

24   look at these cases and individually decide which  

25   way they're going to go. 
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 1            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Thanks for appearing  

 2   today.  We certainly appreciate and value your  

 3   contributions to this panel.  Thank you. 

 4            VICE ADMIRAL MacDONALD:  Thanks. 

 5            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  We're a little ahead  

 6   of schedule. 

 7            MR. McGREGOR:  Yes, sir, I recommend we  

 8   take a break until 9:45.  The CNA witnesses are here  

 9   and have agreed that they will begin then. 

10            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  All right.  Then we'll  

11   be in recess until 9:45. 

12            (Pause in proceedings.) 

13            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Doctor, I think we're  

14   ready for your testimony. 

15            DR. CAREY:  Thank you, sir. 

16            In the briefing that we prepared, we will  

17   try to address some of the questions we understand  

18   the committee has.  The briefing follows three basic  

19   areas.  The first is to give background to the study  

20   to understand what it was we were tasked to do and  

21   how we understood that tasking.   

22            The second part of the brief will include  

23   the work diary that we had, how we collected that  

24   data, and the methods we used to assure quality of  

25   that data.   
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 1            The last section of the briefing will look  

 2   basically at the results and a summary of what we  

 3   concluded from that.   

 4            So with that as an overview, could I have  

 5   the next slide, please. 

 6            We had three tasks for this study.  First  

 7   was to identify major priorities of current levels  

 8   of legal services.  For this one, we knew that we  

 9   needed to look at levels of particular areas of the  

10   law, but we also knew that it was important the  

11   complexity of a particular case or a particular  

12   service.  For that reason, we thought the hours  

13   worked was an important dataset to collect, and  

14   we'll talk more about that later, the alternatives  

15   we considered. 

16            Task two was to develop a proper force mix  

17   and life.  For this we understood our task to be to  



18   get data that was in enough detail that the admiral  

19   could decide to, possibly decide to move personnel  

20   from one office or command to another.   

21            For task three we were to develop low and  

22   high cost JAG corps options.  For this we understood  

23   that we needed to use alternative functions of  

24   workloads and also cost out the level of service  

25   that would be proposed as possible alternatives. 
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 1            Next slide, please.   

 2            Neither Dr. Birchler or myself are lawyers,  

 3   so we realize that to do this study, we needed to  

 4   have lawyers help us with many areas of this study,  

 5   particularly those areas that had to do with  

 6   knowledge of the law, the ability to develop  

 7   questions that a lawyer would understand in the way  

 8   that we intended them to, and understanding the  

 9   organization of the JAG corps and how it relates to  

10   the Navy.  The primary point of contact for our  

11   study was then Captain Hank Molinengo, who was at  

12   that time the AJAG for operations and management  

13   code O6.  We consulted extensively with him and  

14   particularly Captain David Hayes, who is the  

15   assistant for transformation on this study.   

16   Assisting them was a working group that had ten  

17   members all of the O6 level, and we had some members  

18   of people come in occasionally for working groups on  

19   particular areas of the law, as well. 

20            Some of the people who were in the working  

21   group included the special assistant for  

22   transformation, I mentioned him, the AJAG for civil  

23   law, Captain Ron Berger at the time; AJAG for  

24   military justice Colonel McCue; Code O6, court of  

25   criminal appeals, Captain Roth at that time;  
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 1   international and operational law, Captain Neher;  

 2   claims, Ms. Patricia Leonard; criminal law, Captain  

 3   Reismeier; Code 63, Captain -- then Captain Copeland  

 4   (phonetic) and Mr. Whitaker, and I think I might  

 5   have mentioned Ms. Sheila Padilla, code 65.  We had  

 6   meetings approximately monthly with this group and  

 7   also communicated with them occasionally through  

 8   e-mails and calls.   

 9            I was the project director responsible for  

10   all project phases.  Dr. Don Birchler, to my left  

11   here, your right, was the research leader,  

12   particularly with things have to doing with  

13   predicting future workload.   

14            The timeline for the study was that we  

15   started the project in September 2006.  We collected  

16   the work diary data in May and June of 2007.  That  

17   was the primary workload date, the two week diary.   

18   We also collected data from reservists where we had  



19   a larger time in the field.  We had a sponsor  

20   review, of our first report was due 31 October  

21   2007.  The final version of that report after  

22   incorporating recommendations for the JAG was  

23   delivered February of 2008.  We had a second part  

24   that dealt with the office of the judge advocate  

25   imbedded, staff judge advocates, the Naval justice  
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 1   school and reservists that came out in April 2008.   

 2   Level of service options in May 2008.  We briefed N1  

 3   in September, I believe it was, 2008. 

 4            We had three primary methodologies we  

 5   seriously considered for this study.  The first,  

 6   because I had been involved in a study of sea-shore  

 7   rotation for the medical corps that was completed in  

 8   1994.  We thought about that as a possible approach  

 9   to computing the number of JAG corps needed.  We  

10   decided against that for a couple of reasons.  The  

11   most important thing was that sea-shore rotation  

12   only applies to officers.   

13            Excuse me, sir? 

14            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Nothing. 

15            DR. CAREY:  Okay.  So we thought that we  

16   wanted a method that would include civilians,  

17   enlisted, and officers. 

18            A second one that we looked at was  

19   comparing the JAG to the overall population of the  

20   Navy, compare the number of JAGs to the population  

21   for the Army, the Air Force, and the Marine Corps.   

22   We also decided against that as an alternative.  The  

23   reason was we felt that there were very legitimate  

24   cross-service missions in the mission of the  

25   service, and although this is a popular way of  
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 1   computing requirements, say, with health maintenance  

 2   organizations, we didn't think that it adequately  

 3   gave justice to the complexity of what lawyers do as  

 4   JAG officers or civilians serving the Navy. 

 5            As a third, for lack of a better term, and  

 6   this may not be the best term for it, I call it a  

 7   time-motion study.  This is similar to what I was  

 8   participating in in the early 1990s, looking at job  

 9   performance measurement of Marine Corps personnel.   

10   In this type of approach, you'd have someone watch a  

11   JAG officer, a JAG civilian, and actually mark down  

12   how much time they were at work and what they were  

13   at work at.  This is an extremely expensive way to  

14   collect something, census data, census in the sense  

15   that you wanted to get every single person.  It also  

16   requires extremely skilled observers to do this.  It  

17   certainly would be nice if we had unlimited  

18   resources, but we needed someone who knew the law  

19   well and would have to spend quite a bit of time  



20   training those observers to do this.  We decided  

21   after these considerations that the best method was  

22   to look at a work diary for the JAG corps.  We  

23   understood that in the private sector lawyers are  

24   used to keeping track of their hours.  Secondly, we  

25   knew that self-reported workload was a key component  
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 1   of some areas of the Navy already.  USFFC Fleet  

 2   Forces Command, NAVMAC, Navy Manpower Analysis  

 3   Center, are examples.  So we understood this was a  

 4   familiar basis and data to look at requirements for  

 5   the Navy.   

 6            Lastly, there was Naval instruction  

 7   1000.16K specified hourly workload for Navy  

 8   personnel very clearly.  So for these reasons we  

 9   thought this was the best approach for our study. 

10            Next slide. 

11            Overview of the methodology, and we will  

12   get into some of the details later on.  We had our  

13   interviews with flag officers, which occurred from  

14   May through approximately October of 2007.  It took  

15   a while getting up some of the appointments and  

16   phone interviews that we had.  We had our primary  

17   work data collection May June 2007.  To do our work,  

18   we assumed that the number of individual augmentees  

19   would stay at the same level it was at that time.   

20   At that time they were 43 active duty judge  

21   advocates, 29 legalmen, and we assume that would be  

22   for the foreseeable future.  We did our  

23   approximations out to the end of fiscal 2010. 

24            Our goal was to, as I said, do a census to  

25   get everyone, if possible.  We calculated workload  
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 1   on 40-, 45-, and 50-hour workweeks, knowing that the  

 2   decision of whether 40-, 45-, 50-hour, or other  

 3   workweek was an important assumption, so we wanted  

 4   to calculate requirements based on different  

 5   assumptions. 

 6            Lastly, we wanted to use military justice  

 7   as an important factor in our workload.  First,  

 8   military justice is the single largest percentage of  

 9   JAG corps workload from our measurement, a little  

10   over 20 percent overall.  It's also very well  

11   documented workload.  If we understand correctly,  

12   the JAG corps actually reports a number of general  

13   court martial, special court martial, et cetera, at  

14   least on a yearly basis, so this is good data to  

15   develop alternative assumptions. 

16            The last two bullets on slide 17 will get  

17   into more detail.  Let's go on for now. 

18            Our challenge, given that we chose this  

19   method, was that the JAG corps at the time had a  

20   method of collecting work hours that was not at the  



21   time being well filled out.  It was used for other  

22   purposes besides work hours.  I don't want to say  

23   anything negative about this.  In fact, it may have  

24   been more important for other purposes than  

25   collecting work hours.   
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 1            Between November and through January, there  

 2   were some weeks when we only had 50 to 60 personnel  

 3   who filled out information about the military  

 4   justice work that they did.  In addition, some of  

 5   the average hours -- well, the average hours across  

 6   personnel were very low, 12 to 15 hours a week.  We  

 7   interpreted this as meaning that not all people were  

 8   filling out the workload survey, and it was  

 9   important for us to do something to get a more  

10   correct -- more complete data collection.  We  

11   thought to do this it would be helpful if we  

12   concentrated the effort.  That way we could have all  

13   members of the JAG corps, enlisted and civilian,  

14   focus for a short period of time; we chose two  

15   weeks.  This would also reduce the burden;  

16   collecting diary data does take time. 

17            I worked on my dissertation with this  

18   survey and knew from literature that having  

19   intensive efforts to prepare people before you  

20   collect the data was very important to get high  

21   response rate.  For instance, having training  

22   sessions was important, particularly since we would  

23   do this through the computer.  We wanted to have  

24   lists of tasks in areas of the law, but we wanted to  

25   keep them as short as possible because people get  
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 1   impatient going through long lists of tasks.  We  

 2   decided to report back to respondents the data that  

 3   we received because we wanted people to know if we  

 4   either weren't receiving data or if they were  

 5   reporting something that didn't make sense; they'd  

 6   have an opportunity to correct it. 

 7            Lastly, we pretested the work diary with  

 8   our working group, with JAGs who are not part of the  

 9   working group, and we actually had a couple Navy  

10   personnel who were aboard aircraft carriers take the  

11   questionnaire to see if there was a way of getting  

12   it through the Internet so that they could access it  

13   on an aircraft carrier. 

14            Our response rate was excellent for the  

15   RLSOs, NLSOs, and for OJAG NJS.  87 percent for the  

16   officers, 76 percent for the enlisted, and  

17   87 percent for the civilians.  It was not as high  

18   for the SJAs, and we're be telling you a little bit  

19   more about that in a minute. 

20            But considering this was a work diary, this  

21   was really a very good response rate, and a lot of  



22   the credit for that belongs to Captain Molinengo and  

23   other members of the judge advocate general, Navy  

24   judge advocate general.  They made clear this is  

25   important to give good accurate data, so although we  
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 1   did have these checks, a lot of the credit goes to  

 2   the Navy judge advocate for that. 

 3            I'm now going to walk you through a little  

 4   bit of what the survey looked like.  We contracted  

 5   with a private contractor who is a specialist in  

 6   doing surveys.  This was the opening window of the  

 7   survey.  Someone would get an e-mail that said we  

 8   want you to fill out this work diary.  Here's your  

 9   personal link, and they would hit the link, and they  

10   would come to this screen here.  It was important  

11   that it have a graphic on it that's well known that  

12   graphics make people more likely to respond to a  

13   survey.  It made clear who needed to fill out the  

14   work diary and who didn't, and then almost all  

15   screens we emphasize confidentiality of the data  

16   that we share. 

17            Next. 

18            We also had pretraining before we fielded  

19   this survey.  The training stressed that responses  

20   would be kept confidential, that the e-mail  

21   addresses were encrypted, and that only aggregates  

22   would be reported.  We didn't want inform report  

23   just ones and twos in particular offices.  We told  

24   them that they would be sent e-mail reminders, that  

25   TAD and work out of the office counted.  We thought  
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 1   this was particularly important to places like the  

 2   PAC fleet, where often getting from, say, Hawaii to  

 3   Korea or Hawaii to Australia, to India, tremendous  

 4   amounts of time getting from one part of the fleet  

 5   to another. 

 6            We also told them that they'd have an  

 7   opportunity to correct mistakes.  We didn't want JAG  

 8   personnel to feel that it would do -- make  

 9   requirements based on data that they didn't have an  

10   opportunity to correct if they forgot, if they hit a  

11   wrong button, so that was important. 

12            We had a list of tasks and what we called  

13   in support of or legal areas.  But we realize that  

14   even given precautions that we had, that some of the  

15   lists may seem rather long.  We did give them  

16   another category, other legal and other nonlegal,  

17   and some people used that because they were not able  

18   to find the category exactly matching. 

19            We asked them to fill out at the end of  

20   each day, if possible, this is because people's  

21   memory for earlier days of the week is not as good  

22   as the day that they did the work.  We also gave  



23   them the option of filling out the questionnaire  

24   during the day, so someone might work on a  

25   particular brief or collect evidence, they could  
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 1   actually go to their computers, fill it out, close  

 2   it up, and then go back later in the day. 

 3            Next slide. 

 4            We wanted to make it very clear to people  

 5   as they filled out the questionnaire what it was  

 6   they were telling us, so this is an example of  

 7   someone who defaults in all cases this personal  

 8   time, it does not count as work.  You can see  

 9   between 3 a.m. and 8 a.m. it was not work time.   

10   They started at 9:00, and went through the noon hour  

11   here on military justice or nonjudicial punishment,  

12   NJP.   

13            Next slide. 

14            This is the initial, the screen that they  

15   saw where they try to put in a work task, and work  

16   tasks could be in support of different legal areas.   

17   For instance, someone could be doing an  

18   investigative support in support of military justice  

19   courts martial, military justice records, national  

20   security cases, et cetera.  There's an option for  

21   executive secretary services.  So someone could be  

22   doing secretarial work in support of these legal  

23   tasks.  Again, we had a high response rate. 

24            Next slide. 

25            I apologize for the eye chart here.  I  
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 1   think you may already be familiar with this slide.   

 2   It's one that we were given at the beginning of the  

 3   study, looking at the different legal areas that  

 4   members of the Navy JAG corps work on, all the way  

 5   from areas of international and operational law,  

 6   environmental law, ethics, military personnel law,  

 7   different areas of military justice such as NJP and  

 8   courts martial, et cetera.   

 9            This was a good road map for the beginning  

10   of our work, but we realize that we needed to put it  

11   in a shorter list in a more palatable form we showed  

12   you in the last few slides to make it easier for  

13   people to give us ideas on their work.   

14            Next slide. 

15            The strength of what we did was that it was  

16   economical, we did not have to have observers, we  

17   didn't have to do interviews with JAG corps  

18   personnel about how many hours they were working.   

19   It made it easier to download the data.  Higher  

20   response rate usually is found with a diary like  

21   this because it has some novelty value, it looks  

22   interesting.  We also thought that we'd get more  

23   candid responses.  Social desirability is a  



24   consideration with this type of work.  People  

25   wanting to say that they work harder or type of work  
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 1   you want the interviewer to hear.  This way we  

 2   didn't have someone have to tell someone face to  

 3   face, I worked this, I worked this.  It was  

 4   confidential.   

 5            It was almost a necessity for us to move a  

 6   method something like this because of the spread of  

 7   Navy JAG corps officers and civilians and enlisted  

 8   being on ships, being overseas in different time  

 9   zones. 

10            Next slide.   

11            I know I've talked a little bit about our  

12   efforts to ensure data validity, but I wanted to  

13   emphasize those, if you'll permit me.  We base this  

14   on e-mail addresses that this was our best way of  

15   having a single list that would include all Navy JAG  

16   corps personnel, enlisted and civilian.  We figured  

17   everyone has an e-mail address, even though they may  

18   be away from, say, their phone for long periods of  

19   time or may not have paper surveys that they'd be  

20   able to pick up.  We offered to e-mail paper and  

21   pencil version of the survey.  This was something  

22   that was taken by our staff judge advocate fairly  

23   regularly, even though we had pretested on an  

24   aircraft carrier, it turned out that some of the  

25   judge advocates were not able to get links from  
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 1   ships, so we e-mailed a paper and pencil copy of  

 2   that and had them e-mail it to us to.   

 3            We ensured that respondents recognize the  

 4   work task by our work with the technical work group  

 5   and pretesting that we did.  I already mentioned the  

 6   confidentiality; to reiterate, we did give everyone  

 7   their own person link, thought that was important to  

 8   give the sense that this is data that's only for you  

 9   and no one else.  We used a more secure HTTPS site  

10   for links.  I'm not a computer expert, but I've been  

11   told that is more secure than a HTTP site would be,  

12   and we did stress the confidentiality, and the  

13   layout and presentation was a matter we spent a lot  

14   of time thinking about it and making sure we got  

15   right. 

16            Next slide.   

17            I've talked about the fact that we made  

18   sure that respondents knew how to respond over the  

19   Internet.  We had orientation sessions for Norfolk  

20   area respondents, San Diego area respondents, we  

21   even had a phone orientation for personnel who were  

22   in the Pacific.  We traveled to JAG professional  

23   gatherings, conferences prior to this being  

24   fielded.  We had several personnel go to the east  



25   and west coast and be there at the beginning of the  
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 1   survey.  Dr. Birchler went to the Norfolk area in  

 2   case there were questions at the NLSO and RLSO there  

 3   in Norfolk.  My colleague Mr. Jim Gash went out to  

 4   San Diego also to answer questions if people were  

 5   having trouble accessing the survey.   

 6            We guaranteed technical problems would be  

 7   resolved very quickly by having people on site, by  

 8   having reminder e-mails, and being in contact by  

 9   phone with our working group, who we understood were  

10   also in contact with Navy lawyers and other JAG  

11   corps personnel throughout the fleet.  We did remind  

12   respondents the literature says if you remind  

13   respondents, they tend to keep up their response  

14   rate.  If you fail to give reminders, response rates  

15   will decrease.  We did send e-mails letting them  

16   know whether we were getting the data.  They had an  

17   opportunity to ask questions.  There were a few  

18   respondents who were very concerned that they would  

19   be out of the office and that this would somehow  

20   count against the Navy JAG corps.  We assured them  

21   that we had a method that if they were on vacation  

22   or whatever, that we would not be counting that as a  

23   zero against the overall Navy answer.  We also sent  

24   e-mail reminders.   

25            Go ahead.   
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 1            We thought that it was important that we  

 2   look at our data compared to other lawyers to get a  

 3   sense of whether the data we had was in the same  

 4   range as other lawyers who had responded to  

 5   surveys.  The committee may already be familiar with  

 6   the survey report after the JD:  First Results of  

 7   National Study of Legal Careers by the National  

 8   Association of Legal Professionals and the American  

 9   Bar Foundation, but what I've done on this slide is  

10   looked at the mean hours worked on that survey, and  

11   then in the red box down below the mean hours of  

12   Navy JAG corps personnel.  I'm emphasizing the  

13   officers here.  The result for the enlisted or  

14   civilian would be somewhat lower, but you can see  

15   that the OJAG officers, the NLSOs, the RLSOs, even  

16   the nonoperational SJAs and the joint SJAs, were in  

17   the neighborhood of known lawyers in other  

18   contexts.  The low for the announced survey was  

19   45 hours a week, the high was with private firm  

20   offices 251 or more, almost 53 hours a week for  

21   those lawyers reporting.  The ones that seemed to be  

22   outliers, really, were the operational SJAs, the  

23   ones that were at places like PAC fleet, seemed to  

24   be working extremely high hours. 

25            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  May I ask a question? 
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 1            DR. CAREY:  Yes, sir.   

 2            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  How did you account  

 3   for nonlegal but military duties that would fall  

 4   into the category, say, physical training,  

 5   attendance at staff meetings, nonlegal training,  

 6   damage control drills aboard ship, those sorts of  

 7   other duty, time that I think lawyers as well as  

 8   other Navy officers would have to spend their time  

 9   on? 

10            DR. CAREY:  Personal time was not  

11   considered work.  I guess someone can make an  

12   argument for that, but we didn't find it  

13   persuasive.  Time, though, spent in staff meetings,  

14   standing watch, that sort of thing we considered  

15   work because it was our understanding that is a part  

16   of a Navy JAG officer's duties.  If you look at the  

17   report, we separated legal work from nonlegal work.   

18   The top has the legal work, the bottom of the matrix  

19   or table has the nonlegal work, and I think it shows  

20   that Navy officers do a fair amount of work that is  

21   not strictly legal. 

22            One of the reasons we thought it was  

23   important to include that as work is sometimes Navy  

24   officers in the line will be dealing with issues  

25   that have a legal tint to them or may cross over  
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 1   into legal issues, and that Navy officer may not  

 2   realize the legal significance of the decisions that  

 3   he's making, so we thought that those things were  

 4   important to include as work. 

 5            MR. MOLZAHN:  If I could ask another  

 6   question, I would appreciate it. 

 7            DR. CAREY:  Oh, yes. 

 8            MR. MOLZAHN:  So kind of in the same area,  

 9   if I understand correctly, you expected people to  

10   put down whenever they were using private time as  

11   opposed to working.  So, for example, I just want to  

12   know how small a time we're talking about, if  

13   someone took a phone call to arrange a plumbing  

14   appointment or, you know, on the way to a restroom  

15   break spent 20 minutes talking about the Redskins,  

16   would you expect them to put that down as private  

17   time on their -- on this work document?   

18            MR. CAREY:  Yes.  We expected JAG officers  

19   and other personnel to include their time in  

20   30-minute increments, so if it rounded to  

21   30 minutes, it would be a block that would be either  

22   personal time that they could put specifically, this  

23   is personal time, or they would leave it blank.  The  

24   way we analyzed the data, if the workday was left  

25   blank somewhere in the middle, we assumed that that  
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 1   was a person going to lunch, chatting with their  

 2   colleagues, that sort of thing. 

 3            MR. MOLZAHN:  The reason I'm asking is  

 4   because I would assume that in the real life, except  

 5   in urgent circumstances, people don't work three and  

 6   a half hours straight without the slightest stop.   

 7   They might very well in a critical situation or  

 8   short deadline, but day-to-day you're going to see  

 9   all sorts of breaks during the day, and so my  

10   question would be, is that what you saw in your  

11   study results?  Did you see all sorts of personal  

12   time breaks during the day, or did you see large  

13   reports of time like this, three and a half hours  

14   straight working on a particular project or five  

15   hours straight working on a particular project?  The  

16   reason I ask is kind of obvious.  You mentioned that  

17   one of the potential difficulties in a study like  

18   this is people giving socially desirable answers.  I  

19   guess, in my view, a socially desirable answer in  

20   this kind of circumstance would be reporting more  

21   hours and less personal time.  And one thing that  

22   kind of would convince me that it was highly  

23   accurate would be how often would people actually  

24   report, you know, as they run along during the day,  

25   personal time, or did the times end up being in huge  
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 1   blocks like personal time, you know, 20 minutes here  

 2   and then, like, five hours of straight work, then  

 3   personal time for 15 minutes and then another five  

 4   hours worth of work?  I don't know if I made myself  

 5   clear, but I'm just trying to ask how much actually  

 6   the reported results would be consistent with the  

 7   way you folks would think that people actually work. 

 8            DR. CAREY:  We made sure, as I have already  

 9   said, that if there was a default, something not  

10   work, it was considered personal time, and one  

11   difference between what we did and what I understand  

12   to be often the case in the private sector, I  

13   believe lawyers may do 8-minute or 15-minute  

14   augments in the private sector.  But we found that  

15   people were very diligent, in general, to work, say,  

16   two, three hours at a time.  And since we're doing  

17   it in half-hour increments, things like going to the  

18   bathroom or other very short things did wind up  

19   getting put into the work hours.  So it's possible  

20   that that is a consideration, but, in general, we  

21   were impressed with just how diligent people were at  

22   putting things in reasonable time increments. 

23            Did you want to say anything about that? 

24            DR. BIRCHLER:  Nothing other than that.  I  

25   think when we designed the survey, we have had be  
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 1   careful between granularity and making the survey so  



 2   difficult that nobody wants to do it.  And if we get  

 3   down to the five-minute or ten-minute interval, it's  

 4   more clicks, it's more problems and things like  

 5   that.  So to some degree I do believe some  

 6   granularity is -- suffers by creating a 30-minute  

 7   interval, but at the same time, we keep people a  

 8   little more consistent and a little more diligent  

 9   and a lot less frustrated, and, as a result, the  

10   response rate was up. 

11            However, having said that, I think most  

12   people, if you were to look up the data out there in  

13   the private sector world, even in the private  

14   sector, it is approximately what they call a  

15   productive workday is actually somewhere around the  

16   six hours or seven hours.  So you may work 50 hours  

17   or somewhere along those lines, but your actual  

18   productive time.  But even so, nobody sits there and  

19   takes those hours out.  It's all part and parcel of  

20   relaxing for a few minutes.  So that we can sort of  

21   move to the next task a little bit refreshed. 

22            MR. MOLZAHN:  I think you've answered part  

23   of the question.  This analysis was designed not to  

24   kind of narrow it down to so-called productive time  

25   but more generally?   
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 1            DR. CAREY:  Yes. 

 2            DR. BIRCHLER:  Yes. 

 3            MR. MOLZAHN:  That answers my question.   

 4            I might as well ask my second question.   

 5   Something's been nagging me, and you kind of raised  

 6   it, but it's been nagging on me since I read it.   

 7   And that was, my memory of reading studies or some  

 8   reports in the press on the Nielsen rating system  

 9   used to be self-reporting, and when they switched to  

10   non-self-reporting, two of the results I remembered  

11   was that the amount of time watching public  

12   television dropped off quite significantly, and the  

13   time spent on channel surfing went up  

14   significantly.  I think it's because of something  

15   you mentioned, people, you know, reporting socially  

16   desirable results, but my memory was it wasn't even  

17   that they were being deceitful.  It's just that  

18   subconsciously they ended up reporting things that  

19   were socially desirable.  I think you've done a lot  

20   of things to mitigate this, but maybe you can go  

21   into that a little more.  For example, I think one  

22   of the socially desirable results on here would be  

23   to report more hours; undesirable would be to report  

24   a lot of personal time.  So what, number one, if I  

25   am totally off base in what the literature says  
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 1   about self-reporting systems, and I could be, and  

 2   second, what did you do to mitigate if those  



 3   concerns are true? 

 4            DR. CAREY:  You chose an example which is  

 5   very pertinent but not exactly the situation that we  

 6   were in. 

 7            MR. MOLZAHN:  Okay. 

 8            DR. CAREY:  Unfortunately, we didn't have  

 9   something as simple as a TV set that could be  

10   monitored.  I certainly wish we would have.  We  

11   mitigated a response that was socially desirable to  

12   the extent that we reiterated that we wanted the  

13   right hours, not the wrong hours, less hours, not  

14   more hours.  We reported back to them, and with  

15   that, we reported that we wanted to make sure that  

16   what we were getting is correct.  But ultimately we  

17   didn't have anything as technologically  

18   sophisticated as something that would keep track of  

19   what the television was saying.  Certainly, if we  

20   were clever enough to do it, we certainly would have  

21   used it, yes. 

22            MR. MOLZAHN:  Okay. 

23            DR. CAREY:  We obtained the data from the  

24   work diaries and separated it by task and service  

25   area, what type of tasks they're doing, and we  
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 1   wanted to look at whether they had the right mix of  

 2   personnel.  Occasionally, we found an office or  

 3   command where JAG officers were doing a lot of  

 4   administrative work.  We thought that would be  

 5   useful to the office of the judge advocate general  

 6   to think about whether or not, perhaps another  

 7   secretary was needed in those offices.  We  

 8   complemented this with the diary analysis, with the  

 9   trend data we had for workload, and interviews with  

10   the senior flag officers.  We thought that the  

11   senior flag officers would probably have the best  

12   idea of what the future would be of operational  

13   tasking for Navy personnel, for how much  

14   international and operational law they might be  

15   requiring themselves.  So we thought they were a  

16   good source of opinions in that regard. 

17            We also wanted to know what they thought  

18   the trend was for the near term future, and we asked  

19   all of them that.  We also wanted to know, did there  

20   seem, from their perspective, to be a backlog of  

21   work that was developing, were services being  

22   rationed?  That was a consideration of, if you see  

23   extremely high work hours with a JAG personnel that  

24   perhaps people are having to decide whether they're  

25   going to have to do task A, B, or C. 
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 1            Next slide. 

 2            This is a slide of the decline in general  

 3   courts martial.  You can see from back in 1990, that  



 4   time period up to 1992 was where the first red line  

 5   is there.  There was a decline in the general courts  

 6   martial for 10,000 sailors during the 1990s.  And  

 7   again, from 2002 to 2003 there was a drop that  

 8   seemed to continue again through to 2004.  What  

 9   Dr. Birchler did was look at that trend line where  

10   it's flattened out and took that as the low scenario  

11   because we had three years of approximately level  

12   general court martial work and took the high  

13   scenario to be an average of the time period before  

14   that as shown on the line.  The forecasting out  

15   workload always has some degree of uncertainty.  We  

16   thought this was a good method here. 

17            Go ahead. 

18            We had options for six scenarios when we  

19   briefed N1.  We did 40-, 45- and 50-hour scenarios.   

20   I think that one could make an argument for others,  

21   other than 40-hour.  The reason we thought that  

22   40 hours was the proper way to go was that, number  

23   one, that the Naval instruction for shore manning  

24   was a 40-hour work week.  We thought that it was  

25   important to stay within those bounds.  Secondly,  
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 1   Navy personnel are subjected to stresses that  

 2   private citizens are not.  They may have to deploy,  

 3   they have to take fitness tests, they're in a system  

 4   where it's up or out.  They don't have to  

 5   necessarily move to a different office as part of  

 6   their career, so we felt that for these reasons, the  

 7   40-hour workweek made sense, so that is what we  

 8   recommended. 

 9            Again, we thought this would achieve a  

10   balance between demand for resources and acceptable  

11   risk.  The fewer JAG corps personnel you have, the  

12   more risk you have that something may get missed  

13   that's important, may cause an international  

14   incident, but that was our recommendation. 

15            Next slide. 

16            So in summary, we succeeded in getting a  

17   very high response rate and, looking at the figures,  

18   it's really remarkable that we got such high  

19   response rates to not just the survey but to the  

20   work diary.  Navy JAG corps personnel, our working  

21   group, I think, deserves a lot of credit for that.   

22   They made clear to Navy personnel that it was  

23   important, and it was important to the health of the  

24   JAG corps for the future. 

25            Our findings were similar to the hours  
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 1   found in the NALP survey of civilian lawyers.   

 2   Mr. Molzahn has picked up that we did half-hour  

 3   increments rather than eight minutes.  There might  

 4   have been some differences in the way they interpret  



 5   it, but the fact that our overall findings were  

 6   similar to the natural survey gives us confidence  

 7   that these were reasonable results and not results  

 8   that were outside of the realm of what you would  

 9   expect. 

10            This is intended to be a census in the  

11   sense that we wanted to know whether particular  

12   offices were overworked, underworked, needed more  

13   personnel, or personnel of different types.  We did  

14   have multiple checks on thoroughness and accuracy of  

15   our data collection.   

16            And that ends my briefing, although I do  

17   have some backup slides that I thought might address  

18   questions we might have. 

19            MS. MILLER:  I could ask just a question  

20   about your options slide.   

21            DR. CAREY:  Oh, yes.   

22            MS. MILLER:  How did that actually link the  

23   census, or how did you get to some specific numbers? 

24            DR. CAREY:  Oh, yes.  We added up all the  

25   little offices and codes to get to the overall  
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 1   number there.  In fact, you mentioned another  

 2   difference between the work diary and a regular  

 3   survey.  With the regular survey you might survey,  

 4   say, 50 or a hundred personnel, and that's to  

 5   represent, say, several thousand people.  So each  

 6   respondent, say, represents a hundred, 200 or 300  

 7   people.  In ours we wanted one survey, one work  

 8   diary, rather, to be indicative of that single  

 9   person's work.  So yes, we added up all the little  

10   pieces to get the overall. 

11            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  If I may,  

12   Mr. Chairman, I was probably the most vocal the last  

13   hearing in my disappointment of this project.  Let  

14   me explain a few things.   

15            I was on the ground floor.  Obviously I was  

16   the person who put into motion the decision to  

17   select CNA to conduct this study and I had very high  

18   expectations at the time, was very excited about it  

19   because up until that point our rationale for  

20   manpower in the JAG corps was based upon anecdotal  

21   evidence, based upon our own experiences.  We had no  

22   formulas that could inform us as to how many JAGs we  

23   need to do the job, and our hope and desire, mine  

24   was, was that this study would reveal that to us.   

25   Quite frankly, when I read through this and saw some  
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 1   of the data that was used, I was disappointed. 

 2            We've asked you here to testify today not  

 3   because we want to criticize this report.  That's  

 4   not my purpose at all.  Indeed, we've asked you here  

 5   because the legislation that created this panel  



 6   named this report as a report we should consider  

 7   referring to and utilizing in our final decision.   

 8   Had that reference to this study not been made in  

 9   the legislation, quite frankly, you probably  

10   wouldn't here this morning.  Why do I say this?  Two  

11   things.  When Admiral Houck testified at our last  

12   hearing, I asked him how much this report was used  

13   in his recommendation on the total number of JAGs he  

14   felt was necessary, and he said he was informed by  

15   this report and did not utilize it.  Subsequent to  

16   that, he sent us a letter dated 29th of September.   

17   I'm not trying to ambush you here.  In his letter,  

18   he revised the numbers he was recommending for JAG  

19   corps staffing, and when he listed those things that  

20   he depended upon coming to that conclusion, he never  

21   mentioned this study at all.   

22            I think that's significant.  It's  

23   significant for me because, again, had you not been  

24   mentioned in the legislation, I would have  

25   recommended we not have you here because the report,  
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 1   the recommendation from current JAG leadership is  

 2   not based on this report at all, but it is mentioned  

 3   in the legislation, so we do need you here because I  

 4   suspect that the secretary is going to say, you  

 5   know, we referenced that study, and you guys didn't  

 6   look into it well, we're looking into it.  That's  

 7   the preface of where I'm going with a couple of my  

 8   questions and observations, if that's okay.   

 9            I fully understand the reputation and the  

10   respect CNA has, but the bottom line is, you can  

11   only work with data you're given.  You can only work  

12   with direction you receive from your client.  I'll  

13   be up front.  I think the direction and data you  

14   received from your clients was not entirely  

15   accurate.  I'm not trying to place blame where that  

16   is or intent or anything else.  But as I look at  

17   this report, some of the data I see in here, I  

18   scratch my head and say, where did that come from?   

19   Let me give a couple examples.  Let's go to slide  

20   17.   

21            Candidly, I think slide 17 is misleading  

22   because you only focus on general court martial  

23   data.  Had you put special court martial data in  

24   there as well -- I mean you, I mean the data you  

25   were provided, had that included special court  
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 1   martial data, your line would have fallen off the  

 2   table.  Now, those can argue, well, GCMs are more  

 3   complex and difficult than specials.  Well, some are  

 4   and some aren't.  I've tried some special courts  

 5   martial that were extremely complex and difficult.   

 6   So to take out special court martial data from your  



 7   court martial statistics causes me to wonder why  

 8   that was done, because the workload of special  

 9   courts martial went very low. 

10            Let me give you an example.  You use 2003,  

11   and I can see how that is a logical conclusion right  

12   there.  Your study began in 2006, so there was three  

13   years worth of data there that is not reflected, if  

14   you will.  Numbers show that between fiscal year  

15   2003 and fiscal year 2006 the total courts martial  

16   in the Navy dropped 59 percent.  59 percent.  That's  

17   nowhere reflected in there.  That was nowhere  

18   factored into your high and low scenario.  Again, I  

19   ask myself, why is that?  It's the data you were  

20   given, I understand, but why did JAG corps decide  

21   not to give you special court martial?   

22            DR. CAREY:  They did give us special court  

23   martial data.  On the report, February 2008, it is  

24   on page 51. 

25            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Okay. 
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 1            DR. CAREY:  Just a point of clarification,  

 2   sir.  There was a 40-plus percent drop between 2002  

 3   and 2003, so there was that portion of the drop that  

 4   was indicative in the data here. 

 5            We were -- we used the work group to help  

 6   us make decisions about how to collect the workload  

 7   data and also to make our forecast.  We understood  

 8   that the general courts martial were the more  

 9   complex, more difficult, and so we based this  

10   primarily on the general court martial, but we did  

11   include the special court martial data in our work  

12   as something to be considered. 

13            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Was there ever any  

14   consideration to have a third scenario?  That  

15   scenario would be that the court martial data be  

16   continuing to fall precipitously?   

17            DR. CAREY:  We looked at the data, and it  

18   appeared there were three years where it  

19   approximately leveled off, so no, we thought that to  

20   go too far outside of the realm of the data, you see  

21   here if we'd gone, say, below four general courts  

22   martial per 10,000, we would be in an area that at  

23   that point was unprecedented. 

24            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Between 2003 and  

25   2009, courts martial fell 79 percent. 
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 1            DR. BIRCHLER:  Something happened after the  

 2   2006. 

 3            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Oh, yeah, and it  

 4   continues to happen this year, although we don't  

 5   have the statistics this year, indications are going  

 6   to be less than 200 courts martial tried by all Navy  

 7   that year.  If you think about all the defense  



 8   counsel out there trying cases, each of them have  

 9   less than four cases in a year.  JAG is faced with a  

10   tremendous challenge on what to do with its military  

11   justice personnel because they're not trying cases. 

12            DR. BIRCHLER:  I appreciate that, but I  

13   would argue we wrote this report in fall of 2007,  

14   and most of the data you're talking about was not  

15   available to us. 

16            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Absolutely. 

17            DR. BIRCHLER:  So there was no reason for  

18   us to suspect that another drop precipitous, almost  

19   step function drop, was going to occur.  What we saw  

20   was three years, I would argue, very flat. 

21            DR. CAREY:  Certainly, sir, we would agree  

22   with you that more data is better.  If there had  

23   been data available to us as we were writing the  

24   report, we would have included that in the report. 

25            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Well, I am part of  
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 1   that group that was confident that there would be a  

 2   lot of data out there.  As you got into the study,  

 3   you indicated it was not only not there, what was  

 4   there was not reliable.  I appreciate that because  

 5   I, again, was part of that regime that said, here we  

 6   have a lot of court martial data, we'll use that,  

 7   and we didn't.  Obviously, that had to be a huge  

 8   curveball to you right from the start. 

 9            Let me ask you a final kind of question.   

10   As you look at the high and low scenarios and look  

11   at the recommendation that was presented to Navy  

12   leadership, those high and low scenarios were based  

13   on courts martial.  So what Navy leadership was  

14   asked to do and the way that this was utilized was  

15   estimate the total number of JAGs required,  

16   environmental law, international law, administrative  

17   law, based upon a military justice precept.  Why was  

18   that? 

19            DR. CAREY:  This is a good question.  The  

20   reason we did it the way we did it was that the  

21   courts martial were, from what we could see, and we  

22   did ask a number of people, was the best documented  

23   of the workload that we had.  Things like number of  

24   cases in environmental law doesn't seem to make  

25   sense.  So although we certainly would have liked to  
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 1   have had better data in other areas of law, this was  

 2   both the best documented, it was the largest single  

 3   part of the workload for Navy JAGs.  And it's also  

 4   very central to the mission of Navy JAG corps.  But  

 5   certainly more information is better, and if we  

 6   thought we had reliable data in other areas, we  

 7   would have included it. 

 8            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  I guess the bottom  



 9   line question is, there really is no magic quotient  

10   out there that can tell us what we need in the JAG  

11   corps.  Earlier you addressed it can be tied as a  

12   function of the total number of people on active  

13   duty or the total active duty plus dependents.  I  

14   think what you conclude early on, it really isn't,  

15   so your effort was trying to find that magic  

16   quotient that eluded us. 

17            DR. BIRCHLER:  If I can offer a thought.  I  

18   think that what we were trying to do, and there was  

19   nothing special about courts martial, we were given  

20   a series of functional areas, outputs, these are the  

21   areas that we provide, not just courts martial, and  

22   then we had to baseline it.  Given that you work the  

23   way you work, and I need to repeat, this was not a  

24   productivity study, so we didn't do any normative  

25   type of exercises, oh, look, RLSO A has five percent  
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 1   population is administrative, this says ten percent,  

 2   therefore, we should normalize this to the other.   

 3   This was not a productivity study.  This was a,  

 4   given that you work the way you work, over the next  

 5   three years or so, what do you think we really need  

 6   in terms of Navy JAGs?  So the step one was for us  

 7   to get a decent base line of what it is that you're  

 8   doing, how much effort is going on right now.  I  

 9   think we did a pretty good job saying, this is how  

10   you're working now.   

11            I would argue that the hours worked is a  

12   very good approximation of the hours worked and  

13   certain RLSOs we cut, certain RLSOs we burned off.   

14   The SJAs were very clear they need a lot more people  

15   in many, many cases.  I would argue in most all  

16   those cases, at least on the horizon that we looked  

17   at that we were probably fairly close.  Not exact  

18   but fairly close. 

19            So now what we were tasked in that area  

20   was, okay, I have a benchmark, what's going to  

21   happen over the next three years?  So we had to go  

22   find rules to say, okay, to forecast forward.  We  

23   had this type of data.  They gave us a reasonable  

24   understanding of what's been going in court  

25   martial.  There was nothing in this data to say, oh,  
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 1   look, we were going to see another precipitous drop  

 2   off.  We only said flat.  The only reason you're  

 3   going to see a downward drop is because the Navy  

 4   itself is going down in active duty.  In other  

 5   cases, we didn't even have that.   

 6            Environmental law.  Okay.  We had nothing  

 7   to base that on.  Unfortunately, what we had was a  

 8   series of interviews with a lot of people that said  

 9   the demand signal was higher than what was currently  



10   available.  At the same time you had been staffing  

11   these people at a growth rate of I can't remember  

12   exactly, but approximately 5.9 percent.  And even at  

13   the 5.9 percent that's an underestimate, okay.  What  

14   the true demand signal is out there for  

15   environmental, international, operational law.  So I  

16   said, all right, we're going to low ball this a  

17   little bit, we're going to underestimate what you  

18   think is probably the true demand signal.  We're  

19   going to say at the very least this is what you're  

20   probably going to need over the next three years.   

21            This is already a little bit dated.  I  

22   think we went out to FY10, if I recall correctly.   

23   We're already into FY11.  Clearly things have  

24   changed.  If these results had been immediately  

25   enacted upon, I think that we would -- you would  
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 1   have been more healthy right away, and I do think  

 2   that the numbers are reasonably close.  We can talk  

 3   about, you know, maybe 15 over here, 20 over there,  

 4   but I think, you know, we're fairly close.  With the  

 5   exception, by the way, that there's bits and pieces  

 6   that we didn't look at at all like office military  

 7   commission, wounded warrior, et cetera, which are  

 8   total add-ons.  I actually think the study offered  

 9   the JAG a reasonable benchmark where they are, a  

10   reasonable benchmark of what they need at that point  

11   in time, and what we need over the next three  

12   years.   

13            And you're right, there's probably room for  

14   more data and more analysis, but there's another  

15   question, if what you say is true, that there's no  

16   magic quotient, I would argue that the stuff FFC's  

17   is incorrect, USMAA, US Manpower Analysis Agency,  

18   they do very similar work.  That's not useful.  The  

19   bottom line is you don't work on price.  You work on  

20   sort of demand -- I'm sorry, sort of a top down, you  

21   shall go there, right, versus sort of private  

22   sector.  You shall buy these services until you need  

23   no more.  Given that, you have to fall back on these  

24   types of studies which have inherent flaws, things  

25   like self-reporting data, which, by the way, I think  
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 1   self-reporting data, I think Neil addressed this  

 2   fairly well, we recognize that there are some  

 3   issues, and we tried to mitigate that by having  

 4   people on site, training sessions.  We tried to let  

 5   them know that there is no incentive for them to  

 6   cheat or overinflate because we weren't going to  

 7   report that Lieutenant Smith worked 65 hours to  

 8   anyone.  Lieutenant Smith's numbers were not  

 9   reported except in the aggregate, so nobody knows  

10   how many hours Lieutenant Smith actually worked.   



11            What about socially desirable?  Well, we  

12   weren't collecting just total hours of work.  We  

13   were collecting what tasks you were doing and what  

14   functional areas.  So there was nothing a priority  

15   that would have said to him, oh, look what they're  

16   looking for me is some inflated numbers of hours  

17   worked.  They would have had to ask themselves, what  

18   are they looking for me?  Are they looking for some  

19   inflated hours worked in courts martials or inflated  

20   hours worked in environmental law or something like  

21   that?  There is nothing about this that was socially  

22   desirable at all.  Especially if you take away the  

23   incentive for them to -- the incentive for  

24   Lieutenant Smith to be recognized at a 60-hour  

25   workweek person.  That just didn't exist. 
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 1            So I would argue that you got a reasonably  

 2   good study which reasonably describes what you  

 3   probably need.  

 4            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  My concern, is,  

 5   that's not a decision you made.  I understand that  

 6   completely.  That was a decision that was given to  

 7   you, and if you take a step back and look at it, it  

 8   sounds logical.  Then when you started looking at  

 9   the numbers that the Navy experienced over the last  

10   ten years, you realize that it is extremely  

11   volatile.  My concern is, how to anticipate that, I  

12   guess.  Is that going to jump back some day, or is  

13   it going to continue its downward spiral?  I don't  

14   know. 

15            DR. CAREY:  I think that this is a good  

16   question here.  We used a three-year moving average  

17   with the data that we had available.  The idea being  

18   that you don't want to overpredict from just one  

19   year's variation.  I think Dr. Birchler did a very  

20   good job of that.  In fact, I think that he helped  

21   the JAG corps look at a method that more accurately  

22   reflected more recent data, three-year data.  They'd  

23   been using a method that used more than three years,  

24   which included some of that time where the workload  

25   was much higher, so I think he advanced the JAG  
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 1   corps's ability to predict its workload there.   

 2            As you said, we didn't have the 2007, 2008,  

 3   2009 data, and that's regrettable.   

 4            DR. BIRCHLER:  I think there's another  

 5   issue here, and that is that we did try to figure  

 6   out why we saw this almost step function drop,  

 7   okay.  We looked at a lot of normal demographic  

 8   factors, people just getting married, for example.   

 9   Did you see age differences that sort of came to  

10   fruition in that area.  There's nothing demographic  

11   that we could find.  We took this back to the work  



12   group, and we said, we're not finding anything that  

13   would normally explain this, and so at that point in  

14   time, it became a series of speculations.  People  

15   came forward and said, this is NCIS no longer doing  

16   stings.  They've changed their mission scope from  

17   doing criminal work to doing anti-terrorist work, so  

18   as a result we're not doing drug stings, so we don't  

19   have as much.  That was one.  We couldn't follow up  

20   on that, unfortunately, but that was one  

21   speculation. 

22            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Which is a  

23   dangerous speculation.   

24            DR. BIRCHLER:  I'm just throwing that out  

25   what was repeated to me. 
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 1            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  To argue that your  

 2   crime rate has gone down because police haven't  

 3   investigating crimes anymore.  That could just be  

 4   talk. 

 5            DR. BIRCHLER:  Right.  Another one was,  

 6   this is backed up by some of the interviews, some  

 7   people simply saying, I don't want to deal with a  

 8   problematic sailor via a courts martial.  I would  

 9   just rather get him out of my life by an admin --  

10   I'm not a lawyer, you're going to have to help me --  

11            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  I think you've  

12   testified the most dynamic factor there is. 

13            DR. BIRCHLER:  Right.  And so a busy, I'm  

14   responding to Afghanistan, I'm responding to Iraq, I  

15   just don't have time to have my sailors take  

16   depositions and so on.  It's just easier to get him  

17   out of my hair.  Again, we didn't have the data to  

18   back that up either.  So I'm just repeating to you  

19   what everyone has speculated to me, the bottom line  

20   being we couldn't find any hat to hang our -- any  

21   peg to hang our hat on, and that's why we came up  

22   with these scenarios.  We said, maybe, just maybe  

23   something will reverse itself and go back up to  

24   here.   

25            What you just told me, though, is the  
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 1   opposite has happened and that the whole caseload is  

 2   actually going down.  I have no reason why, I have  

 3   no understanding of what's happening or what the  

 4   drive is behind that. 

 5            MS. MILLER:  Just to help me understand the  

 6   language on your charts, on 28 and 29, you have  

 7   assumption used to forecast other JAG workload,  

 8   which I gather is roughly 80 percent of the overall  

 9   JAG workload?   

10            DR. CAREY:  Yes, ma'am. 

11            MS. MILLER:  So constant step risers and  

12   high and low rule and constant and Delta MP, I can  



13   understand 5.9 increase.  Are we basically saying  

14   that whether it's a high or low thing if it's  

15   constant, what you concluded is that the billets are  

16   exactly right or just translate?   

17            DR. CAREY:  We did increase by 5.9 percent  

18   per year in the near future.  That was based on  

19   increased billets I mentioned earlier.  So for  

20   instance, year one would be a hundred, year two,  

21   would be .05, almost six more, et cetera. 

22            MS. MILLER:  I'm trying to look at  

23   administrative law.  Constant, constant, constant,  

24   whatever does that mean?   

25            DR. BIRCHLER:  Again, in many cases we  
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 1   didn't have any data to draw on, so we would have to  

 2   speak, a lot of times we would say to the working  

 3   group, we didn't even know what admin law was, so we  

 4   said, can you give us an idea what it is, here's  

 5   what it is.  Okay, do you have data on how many  

 6   cases, things like that?  No, we don't.  What do you  

 7   think is going on?  We didn't have a lot to hang our  

 8   hat on in terms of historical data.  We usually kept  

 9   it constant, things like admin law, MILPERS, they  

10   said, this is a function of how many active duty we  

11   have.  All right.  We said, Delta MP, that means to  

12   change the overall manpower. 

13            MS. MILLER:  Manpower goes up and down. 

14            DR. BIRCHLER:  Right.  Exactly.  What we  

15   did was counted the hours.  We counted in command A  

16   a hundred hours of admin law.  We kept that  

17   constant.  We said, over the next four years, that  

18   will stay a hundred hours.   

19            MS. MILLER:  It will stay that whether you  

20   have a high assumption or low assumption?   

21            DR. BIRCHLER:  That's only pertinent to  

22   military justice. 

23            MS. MILLER:  So breaking those two columns  

24   down, the other doesn't really make sense. 

25            DR. BIRCHLER:  Right.  Slideology, I  
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 1   guess.  Sorry about that. 

 2            DR. CAREY:  Yep. 

 3            MS. MILLER:  So taking a step back, your  

 4   conclusion with respect to the 80 percent of the  

 5   workload, the JAGs, that at the time you were doing  

 6   the study, apart from, you know, sort of shifts in  

 7   manpower that might drive things, the only other  

 8   things that were going on were increases in a few  

 9   areas and no decreases?   

10            DR. CAREY:  Well, because the overall  

11   military manpower was going down, there were  

12   decreases.  Every time it says Delta MP, each year  

13   it would be decreasing because the overall Navy  



14   manpower was going down.   

15            Just a correction for the record.  The  

16   military justice portion of this added to just a  

17   little over 20 percent of the workload, and  

18   certainly we would have preferred it if we had  

19   better rules for a larger percentage than 20 percent  

20   of the workload, as we mentioned before. 

21            MS. MILLER:  I understand. 

22            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Let me follow onto  

23   what Admiral McPherson talked about.  You started to  

24   touch on it.  The admin separation nonjudicial  

25   punishment, say alternatives to courts martial, I'm  
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 1   not sure I understood whether you were able to  

 2   factor that in, not factor that in.  If you were,  

 3   did you see an inverse relationship between courts  

 4   martial and admin separation and people are saying,  

 5   look, we're not going to court martial this guy or  

 6   this lady and separate them administratively? 

 7            DR. BIRCHLER:  No, sir, we didn't actually,  

 8   that was speculation, what people would say.  This  

 9   is what we heard on board the ships, this is what we  

10   heard.  When it came to things like any one of these  

11   functional areas, we had to either use some type of  

12   historical data that was given to us by JAG, or we  

13   just came up with constant, that was it. 

14            DR. CAREY:  If you look, I know this didn't  

15   precisely answer your question, but on page 49 of  

16   the February publication, we saw that they are  

17   pretty much flattened out over 2003-2006.  So we did  

18   address it but certainly not as well as we would  

19   have liked to had we had better data. 

20            MR. MOLZAHN:  If I could, one observation,  

21   I'll call it an observation because I think you  

22   already answered the question from your point of  

23   view, and that's fair. 

24            Just focusing a bit on the options, you  

25   picked option four, which was based on the 40-hour  
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 1   workweek.  You explained why you picked that,  

 2   virtually it was an augmented instruction.  The only  

 3   concern I have and observation is I just don't know  

 4   any legal offices inside the government, outside the  

 5   government, uniformed or not, which actually can  

 6   afford to staff an office based on a 40-hour  

 7   workweek, and I know you've given other options, so  

 8   if I don't like your option, I can just pick another  

 9   one, but it seemed to be a little off when, in fact,  

10   you, when you looked at other government offices,  

11   you came up the average of 45, and you decided to  

12   choose 40 hours for the JAG corps, which is  

13   certainly a top performing legal organization.   

14   Because of that, I don't think there's a chance in  



15   the world, no matter how many lawyers you gave them,  

16   that would actually work the 40 hours.   

17            In any case, my observation would be that  

18   I'm just not sure anywhere in the Department of Navy  

19   they could truly afford to staff offices based on  

20   40-hour workweeks, particularly not legal offices. 

21            DR. CAREY:  I don't think I have anything  

22   to add to that, sir.  Certainly, the decision,  

23   whether 40, 45, 50, is not part of our study.  It  

24   was our job just to do the calculations. 

25            MS. MILLER:  I could just go back to 28 and  
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 1   29 for just one more second.  Now that I understand  

 2   the Delta MP, general litigation, the driver is  

 3   manpower.  And there a couple other things like  

 4   court litigation driver is manpower, I take it that  

 5   that does include with that where the drivers came  

 6   from, were from the discussions with the focus  

 7   group? 

 8            DR. CAREY:  Yes, with the working group  

 9   that we had. 

10            MS. MILLER:  Thank you. 

11            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Any other questions? 

12            LT. GENERAL OSMAN:  Obviously, this study  

13   was requested by the U.S. Navy.  Did you approach  

14   the Marine Corps to see if they wanted to be  

15   included in it? 

16            DR. CAREY:  I myself did not approach the  

17   Marine Corps to see if they wanted to be involved.   

18   I was informed by Captain Molinengo, I don't know  

19   how he got this information, but he told me the  

20   Marine Corps did not want to be part of this study,  

21   so we let it drop at that point. 

22            MR. PUTZU:  Mr. Chairman, if we can take a  

23   couple minute break off the record.  There's a  

24   couple questions the staff would like to address  

25   with the panel before we dismiss. 
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 1            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Sure.  You want to do  

 2   that now? 

 3            MR. PUTZU:  Yes. 

 4            (Pause in proceedings.) 

 5            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  We have a question  

 6   regarding operational area.  This comes from our  

 7   staff.  The data show that operational SJAs work  

 8   more than any other or longer hours than any other  

 9   segment of the JAG community, and I think the  

10   numbers reflect 60 plus hours per week.  Those SJAs  

11   also had the lowest rate of participation in the  

12   diary, suggesting that perhaps they were too busy to  

13   participate.   

14            I think your study predicted a 5.9 percent  

15   rate of increase per year in operational law  



16   demand.  We previously had testimony from Vice  

17   Admiral Houck on his appearance, during his  

18   appearance on the 1st of September, that the actual  

19   rate of growth in the operational law arena has  

20   exceeded 5.9 percent. 

21            Given all this, do you believe that your  

22   study accurately predicts operational law demand,  

23   and again realize we're dealing with data that's  

24   probably somewhat dated at this point, but certainly  

25   given our -- the fact that we've been at war now for  
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 1   the better of nine plus years, and no immediate end  

 2   in sight, was wondering, and I guess the staff  

 3   proper is wondering whether we are in a position to  

 4   say whether we've got the projections correct on the  

 5   operational law side of things. 

 6            DR. CAREY:  To speculate, we thought, if  

 7   anything, the 5.9 percent might be an underestimate;  

 8   however, we relied on the data that we had that was  

 9   hard based on the number of billets increase and  

10   relying on that as a result.  If we'd had hard  

11   numbers on the larger increase that we thought might  

12   have been occurring, we would have used those. 

13            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Is it fair to say that  

14   perhaps, had we had greater participation from those  

15   SJAs, you might have some of that data?   

16            DR. CAREY:  I think that that's fair to  

17   say.  We used the data that was sent back to us but  

18   had no way of telling what was happening with the  

19   SJAs that did not participate. 

20            MS. MILLER:  Could you remind me where the  

21   5.9 percent came from, because it's used for  

22   international law, law of war, environmental, it's a  

23   straight, and it's 5.9 a year for the indefinite  

24   future. 

25            DR. CAREY:  Yes.  We had our predictions  
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 1   out for three years from 2007 to fiscal 2008, 2009,  

 2   2010, so that was three years.  The short answer is  

 3   that the 5.9 percent increase was due to increase in  

 4   billets.  I think Dr. Birchler is looking for that  

 5   page to give you more detail. 

 6            DR. BIRCHLER:  Page 45 in the report  

 7   explains why we used 5.9 for all three areas,  

 8   environmental and operational and international.   

 9            MS. MILLER:  Why was that? 

10            DR. BIRCHLER:  They didn't have data on  

11   environmental law billets.  They said, every year  

12   we've got 5.9 percent.  What the working group said,  

13   what we're seeing in environmental law, because  

14   there's overlap in the two, what we're saying there  

15   is, what we're also seeing in the international  

16   areas and the operational areas.  Because we didn't  



17   have any other data to look for, we just took their  

18   opinion. 

19            MS. MILLER:  So this wasn't really based  

20   exactly on the work diary, it was based on prior  

21   environmental law experience and the billets that in  

22   the past had been increased and projected that rate  

23   onto operational? 

24            DR. BIRCHLER:  Right.  Precisely.   

25            MS. MILLER:  Thank you. 
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 1            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Captain Neher, did we  

 2   cover your questions?   

 3            CAPTAIN NEHER:  Yes, sir. 

 4            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Having gone through  

 5   the study now, and I assume, I want to make sure I  

 6   recall correctly, this is a rare, unique effort in  

 7   that you hadn't looked at legal stuff in the past  

 8   and having gone through it, completed it, having  

 9   faced questions from us right now, as you look back,  

10   do you have a sense that you're comfortable with the  

11   way this turned out in terms of the validity of what  

12   you determined, or if you would go back and do it  

13   again, would you choose a different methodology to  

14   deal with the lawyers, the unique animals that we  

15   tend to be when it comes to assessing our work? 

16            DR. CAREY:  The one thing I might have done  

17   differently is tried to look for a better way to  

18   contact the SJAs.  Understandably, they're busy,  

19   they're aboard ships, they're in very busy offices,  

20   they may be, who knows, en route from an office to  

21   an operational carrier and back again.  If I had had  

22   a better way to contact them, that would have been  

23   my primary focus. 

24            A second thing that might have occurred is  

25   we might have had a bit more detail in the tasks  
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 1   than some people found useful, and that's why we got  

 2   a fairly high percentage of other responses.  Those  

 3   would be the two things I would change, if I could. 

 4            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Dr. Birchler, any  

 5   comments from you? 

 6            DR. BIRCHLER:  No. 

 7            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Any comments or  

 8   further questions from members of the panel? 

 9            All right.  Dr. Carey, Dr. Birchler, thank  

10   you, very much, for appearing today.  Thanks for  

11   fielding our questions, and appreciate your work and  

12   your contributions to our study.  Thank you.   

13            DR. CAREY:  It was an honor, sir. 

14            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  All right.  I guess  

15   we're ahead of schedule again? 

16            MR. PUTZU:  Yes, we are ahead of schedule,  

17   Mr. Chairman.  The next witnesses are currently  



18   scheduled for 1:00. 

19            We will be going to an administrative work  

20   meeting during the lunch hour. 

21            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Thank you, very much.   

22   We'll be back to work at 1:00.   

23            (Whereupon at 11:10 a.m. a  

24            luncheon recess was taken.)   

25    
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 1            A F T E R N O O N  S E S S I O N 

 2            MR. PUTZU:  Mr. Chairman.  We're ready to  

 3   reconvene. 

 4            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Okay.  Let's go. 

 5            MR. PUTZU:  Mr. Chairman, we're back on the  

 6   record to begin our afternoon agenda with the next  

 7   panel. 

 8            CHARIMAN DELL'ORTO:  Thank you, Frank.   

 9   Captain O'Toole, Colonel Collins, Captain Boock,  

10   look forward to your presentation.   

11            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  To come speak with you in  

12   preparation for today, I sent along a group of  

13   slides.  Those are just to frame the conversation.   

14   And my organizational scheme was to roughly track  

15   the topics that you described in your letter, so I  

16   hope that these slides will help us move through  

17   issues of concern to you, but more than my just  

18   speaking to the slides, I look forward to a dialogue  

19   and to most specifically answering your questions. 

20            One of the areas you asked about in  

21   particular was post-trial process initiatives that  

22   have been undertaken since the Moreno case and the  

23   Foster case.  One of the significant events was a  

24   letter that the judge advocate general sent to the  

25   field in May of 2007 in which you called the SJA's  
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 1   attention to procedures and delays in processing of  

 2   records of trial, specifically counseled their  

 3   compliance with requirements, and more than that,  

 4   asked that the appellate court begin including the  

 5   names of SJAs in the title caption of appellate  

 6   cases so that everyone would be aware of which SJA  

 7   was cognizant over which cases, and that has been  

 8   done since late 2007. 

 9            Additionally, the judicial screening board  

10   which had existed prior to 2009 has been  

11   reformulated with more exacting standards.  The  

12   requirements include service record entries, letters  

13   of references, items of that nature so that judicial  

14   applicants now are no longer simply detailed into a  

15   judicial position but have to be prescreened and be  

16   available in a pool from which the detailers and  

17   manpower personnel will select.  So that was a  

18   significant initiative post-trial. 



19            Of course, the chief judge of the  

20   Department of the Navy, I know you're aware of that  

21   from Admiral Houck's testimony with you, that's a  

22   significant new structural development in the  

23   Department of the Navy.  The individual in that  

24   position will also serve as an assistant judge  

25   advocate general of the Navy, and most important, he  
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 1   is the reporting senior for the reporting judges.   

 2            In times past I'm sure you know that the  

 3   chief judge of the appellate court was not permitted  

 4   to be a reporting senior nor the judges with which  

 5   the chief judge sat on panels due to a perception of  

 6   improper influence.  And so when this position was  

 7   designed, the chief judge of the Department of Navy  

 8   is not an actively sitting member of any panel on  

 9   the appellate court, so may be the reporting senior  

10   but is intimately tied to the court and its workings  

11   and is able to devote a lot of time to the court, so  

12   is an effective rater for all of those judges. 

13            Also significantly, the job description for  

14   the chief judge of the Department of the Navy  

15   includes an affirmative duty to supervise.  One of  

16   the lessons learned out of the Foster case is that  

17   there was a sense that the chief judge was not able  

18   to engage with other judges as fluidly and as  

19   effectively as one might think that he could.  The  

20   chief judge of the Department of Navy is not  

21   encumbered by that in the role of a reporting  

22   senior, has an affirmative responsibility to  

23   supervise, consistent with judicial canons. 

24            Additionally, the Navy Marine Corps court  

25   of criminal appeals court has been modified.  We now  
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 1   have more trial judges on the court.  We have  

 2   specifically military justice litigation career  

 3   track officers on the court.  I'll speak more about  

 4   that career track.  I believe you're already  

 5   familiar with it from prior information that you  

 6   have seen, but those are officers who have spent a  

 7   great deal of their careers in litigation, have been  

 8   selected by a screening process to be designated as  

 9   either specialist or an expert, and the chief judge  

10   of the court is an expert. 

11            We also developed a law clerk program,  

12   which was to supplement and energize the court.  It  

13   has succeeded in doing that, and we're in the  

14   process now of formalizing that program.   

15            Additionally, initiatives include civilian  

16   deputies for continuity and subject matter depth in  

17   the appellate divisions and the criminal law  

18   division.  That's also been very successful.  We  

19   have two civilians, as a matter of fact, in the  



20   criminal law division, which is Colonel Collins'  

21   division, so I'll let him speak to that as well as  

22   the deputy directors of the appellate government and  

23   appellate defense, all very accomplished litigators  

24   in their own right.   

25            The court processes have been improved, it  

0095 

 1   was a lean six Sigma project that looked at the  

 2   process for docketing.  Docketing at the time, 2007,  

 3   averaged about 17 days and could take as long as  

 4   30 days in some cases, so we've looked at all the  

 5   value streams involved in that process and pulled in  

 6   the various stakeholders that were contributing to  

 7   that, and as a result of those process improvements,  

 8   docketing now averages one day.  So that's a  

 9   significant improvement in time saving.   

10            Military justice oversight council was  

11   begun by Admiral Houck and includes General Ary, the  

12   SJA of the commandant.  I think he's described that  

13   for you already, so I won't belabor that other than  

14   to note that it's a very significant oversight  

15   function to have a board of flag and general  

16   officers that on a monthly basis review cases of  

17   concern, and resources are devoted to the appellate  

18   process and the trial process, for that matter.   

19            We've revised the rules of practice for the  

20   appellate court, as well.  I think I missed that  

21   one.  These specifically now address motions for  

22   enlargements of time and include internal operating  

23   procedures which have never been published before,  

24   and we're the only service now that has published  

25   internal operating procedures.   
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 1            Lastly, case track system improvements,  

 2   this is for both the Navy and the Marine Corps.  The  

 3   Marine Corps, of course, launched their case  

 4   management system in February of this year, which is  

 5   an effective case tracker, and the Navy has invested  

 6   some $77,000 in upgrades to our case tracker which  

 7   is known as CMTIS in order that we can enhance the  

 8   visibility of the people that need to see the  

 9   information across its various modules.   

10            These initiatives have led to a number of  

11   areas of improvement.  The military justice  

12   litigation career track course is a structural  

13   improvement that is elevating the level practice  

14   both in the field and at the appellate level.  The  

15   court staffing is stabilized, and as I indicated, we  

16   have a better mix of experience of judges and  

17   clerks.  Beginning this month, the vice commander  

18   for Naval Legal Service Command has been divided  

19   into the deputy commander, one on the trial side,  

20   one on the defense side, to help field counsel be  



21   more effective, and associated with those we have a  

22   trial counsel systems program and defense counsel  

23   systems program which existed in different versions  

24   before, but these are now formalized programs with  

25   O6s at the lead at both trial and the defense  
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 1   systems programs.   

 2            Oversight has improved.  I already  

 3   described how the chief judge of the Department of  

 4   Navy has oversight over the appellate court.  I also  

 5   have oversight over the trial judiciary as well and  

 6   am the reporting senior for the chief trial judge.   

 7            SJA to the commandant, commander naval  

 8   legal service command, and Colonel Collins, the AJAG  

 9   for military justice, now are able to see through  

10   their case tracking systems all the case data that  

11   they need to see to effectively manage.  I'll  

12   certainly defer to Pete on his description of that  

13   for you later.   

14            Oversight, I've mentioned the military  

15   justice oversight council already as key to  

16   oversight, and included in that will be an annual  

17   report to the Secretary and the CNO and the  

18   Commandant, as well, the first addition of which I  

19   believe you already have, the 2009 military justice  

20   report.   

21            Processes have also improved as result of  

22   these initiatives.  The case and mandate tracking  

23   has improved docketing, is more efficient.  I  

24   already mentioned the internal operating procedures  

25   of the court have been revised, and the law clerk  
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 1   program considerably enhances the ability of the  

 2   court to move cases through the pipeline.  As a  

 3   result, the performance is improved.   

 4            Convening authority's actions are taken  

 5   consistent within guidelines.  We reduced the time  

 6   for the delivery of records of trial, reduced  

 7   docketing time.  Motions for enlargements of time  

 8   are way down.  There is virtually no case backlog,  

 9   and all the cases are moving through in a timely  

10   fashion.  Here are some statistics of trends that  

11   support those statements.  Of cases docketed before,  

12   and this may be a little confusing, so I'll try to  

13   be clear about it what we're talking about.  The  

14   Moreno decision, that was decided in June 2006,  

15   there were obviously cases pending before that court  

16   that were docketed to which that case did not apply,  

17   but the court applied it anyway, so a case docketed  

18   before but decided after June of 2006, there were  

19   126 that exceeded the Moreno time line of 18 months,  

20   and you can see there the years where those cases  

21   occurred, and improvement that was made very rapidly  



22   from 2006 to 2008.  Of course, by 2008 would have  

23   exhausted all the cases that were docketed prior to  

24   Moreno, so there are none left.   

25            Of the cases that were docketed at the  
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 1   court after Moreno, none of them have exceeded the  

 2   18-month Moreno timeline. 

 3            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Dan, on the docket,  

 4   what do you mean by that?  Is that assignment to a  

 5   panel? 

 6            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  No, sir.  That's arrival  

 7   at the court and docketing, and then the case goes  

 8   down to the appellate codes for briefing, so it  

 9   encompasses both the briefing time and the time in  

10   panel. 

11            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Case arrives at the  

12   court, and what's the next step that occurs?   

13            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Case arrives first at  

14   that NAMARA, the Navy Marine Corps Appellate Review  

15   Activity, and it is in processed.  They do some  

16   technical things and check exhibits to be sure  

17   everything is there then bring it upstairs to the  

18   court and the docket.  It is entered into our system  

19   as an active case.  Then it's sent downstairs to  

20   appellate government defense to be briefed.  Defense  

21   would have 60 days to file a pleading followed by  

22   the government's 30 days, then it would be in  

23   panel.  So this 18 months includes the time for both  

24   sides to file pleadings as well as the time the  

25   panel would need to dispose of the case. 
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 1            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  At what point is it  

 2   assigned to a panel?  At the time of the docketing? 

 3            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Generally not until the  

 4   briefs are filed. 

 5            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  So if there's a  

 6   question about timing -- who has control, who was  

 7   oversight responsibility in a case while it's being  

 8   briefed?   

 9            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  The clerk of court and  

10   the chief judge.  That's why we docket them so we  

11   have -- we know it's there, we're watching it.  Most  

12   of the cases are small enough that they can be  

13   assigned when the pleadings are filed.  We do,  

14   however, have the flexibility to assign the case  

15   right away, and there are cases where that's done,  

16   if it's a very large case, it'll be assigned right  

17   away so the panel can begin reading the record while  

18   it's being briefed. 

19            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Is that the way the  

20   other services handle it?   

21            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  I don't know. 

22            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  My recollection, my  



23   own experience is that the panels receive the case  

24   as soon as they hit the court, so that you had a  

25   panel overseeing that case from the very start.  I  
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 1   could be wrong on that, but that was my  

 2   recollection.  Would you, please, check and find out  

 3   what the other services do. 

 4            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Yes, I will. 

 5            Now, of course, about two thirds of our  

 6   cases are submitted without error, so those would be  

 7   assigned or reassigned to a panel, depending on what  

 8   it needed. 

 9            That first bullet is simply looking at the  

10   timelines and not talking about whether there was  

11   any prejudice involved.  Due process, that is, was  

12   there actually an impact on an appellate.  In cases  

13   decided after Moreno, NMCCA has granted relief in  

14   110 cases, and you see the decline there.  In 2006,  

15   at the time of the Moreno case, there were 50 then,  

16   in 2007 still 45, but by 2008, it was down to 10,  

17   and then in 2009 just the single case.  We have had  

18   none to date.  So I think both of those timelines  

19   suggest, both by just looking at the time guideline  

20   and looking at due process and relief, indicates a  

21   substantial and structural improvement in how the  

22   appellate court handles it appeals.  I can also put  

23   that in a little more context for you.  In 2010 --  

24   I'm sorry, cases decided after Moreno in 2006 to the  

25   present, in 3,713 cases, and so that puts it in  
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 1   context for you.  110 of them were granted relief. 

 2            This is a rather busy slide.  Hopefully  

 3   it's easier to see in your printed copy.  I give  

 4   this just so that you have a context of what's going  

 5   on across the years.  I can also update you as of  

 6   today since the fiscal year just closed a couple of  

 7   days ago.  We have been able to compile some of the  

 8   year-end totals and for fiscal year 2010, the  

 9   combined service, Navy and Marine Corps, tried 960  

10   cases.  That would be 123 general courts martial for  

11   the Navy, which is 29 more than the preceding year,  

12   and 50 fewer special courts, and general courts  

13   martial are also up for the Marine Corps.  They  

14   tried 164, which is a 24 increase.  Special courts  

15   for the Marine Corps were 520, which is down 155, so  

16   sort of mixed results.   

17            The felony caseload has clearly gone up.   

18   The misdemeanor caseload has clearly gone down  

19   again.  So it's a curious trend again, but still  

20   combines to be about 960 cases, of those 533  

21   received sentences that would require appellate  

22   court review, so looking forward as a leading  

23   indicator, if you want to look at fiscal year 10 as  



24   fiscal year 11's workload, doesn't work quite like  

25   that, but the field generated only 533 cases that  
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 1   required appellate court reveal, and in the last  

 2   90 days, only 137.  That's still tracking to be  

 3   between 30 and 40 cases coming up to the court,  

 4   which is certainly a dramatic change over five years  

 5   ago. 

 6            CHARIMAN DELL'ORTO:  So what percentage of  

 7   those 500 plus were guilty pleas?   

 8            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  I don't know that we know  

 9   that yet.  I'll have to keep totaling for the year.   

10   I don't have that statistic for you. 

11            CHARIMAN DELL'ORTO:  Do you know roughly in  

12   past years what the percentage might be?  Again, we  

13   can update this, but -- 

14            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Roughly between ten and  

15   15 percent would be my guess, contested cases. 

16            CHARIMAN DELL'ORTO:  So we're 85 to  

17   90 percent guilty pleas?   

18            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  That would be my  

19   estimate, sir, ballpark. 

20            CHARIMAN DELL'ORTO:  Thank you.   

21            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Post-trial processing in  

22   addition to just the gross numbers of what's going  

23   on in the field and what's coming into the appellate  

24   court shows that the processing post-trial has  

25   improved.  I mean, consistently below Moreno's  
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 1   timelines in all three of the key categories,  

 2   sentencing to CA's action, CA's action to docketing,  

 3   and then docketing to decision.   

 4            The graph on the right-hand corner is  

 5   appellate pleadings which have declined  

 6   substantially to the point that that little blue  

 7   block in the far right represents two cases, so  

 8   there are only two cases over six months old in the  

 9   appellate divisions. 

10            I mentioned defense motions filed.  You can  

11   see motions for enlargements were very, very high in  

12   2002, 2004, then began to come down and now are rare  

13   events. 

14            This is in part a reflection of the rule  

15   changes that require good cause for an enlargement,  

16   and it has to be shown with particularity.  An  

17   enlargement may only granted for 30 days at a time,  

18   so there are some very clear guidelines in the  

19   court's new rules that help generate that kind of  

20   response. 

21            I think it also reflects the fact that the  

22   appellate courts are properly staffed and are able  

23   to do the work in a timely fashion. 

24            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Do you have capital  



25   cases in there?   
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 1            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  No active capital case.   

 2   We have one case United States versus Parker which  

 3   began as a capital case, went back for resentencing,  

 4   and he received a noncapital sentence. 

 5            With the court itself, you can see the high  

 6   stress in 2003 to 2005, with excessive times in  

 7   panel.  Simply an unacceptable numbers of cases that  

 8   were taking six months and over a year to process by  

 9   the court.  That has been resolved.  The numbers to  

10   the far right of that first graph represent two  

11   cases over six months.  No cases over a year. 

12            To place it in context, this is roughly  

13   what all the services look like in terms of their  

14   caseloads.  Navy, Marine Corps still is generally  

15   the largest, I think Army beat us last year in terms  

16   of volume, but then we exceeded them again in 2009.   

17   All the services, as you can see, post-2006, have  

18   experienced a similar decline in their caseloads. 

19            You also asked that I address resources, so  

20   I'll take a look at these in three areas, personnel,  

21   IT, and education, and training. 

22            In my judgment, there are currently  

23   sufficient personnel resources to staff the military  

24   justice mission going forward.  I think there are  

25   key factors that we have to keep in mind as we move  
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 1   forward in time, and that is that the Navy and the  

 2   Marine Corps, for that matter, are leaner than the  

 3   Army or Air Force in terms of their judge advocate  

 4   to service member ratio.  I think CNA study  

 5   indicates that we're probably too small as a JAG  

 6   corps, but given the court martial caseload which  

 7   had a great deal of decline over the years, I think  

 8   there are sufficient resources available to do  

 9   that.  I think what we have to keep in mind is that  

10   the demand signal is very strong and persistent in  

11   the operational world and in the family support, and  

12   that if the JAG corps as a whole isn't properly  

13   staffed, the back pressure of those demand signals  

14   will impact military justice. 

15            MR. MOLZAHN:  May I break in and ask one  

16   question?  When you say probably sufficient  

17   personnel to staff justice mission, are you talking  

18   about numbers alone or numbers and experience?  By  

19   that I mean courtroom experience.   

20            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Yes, sir.  I think both.   

21   I think we currently have the ability to do any case  

22   anywhere any time.  I do have a concern going  

23   forward, and we've addressed that in the Navy with  

24   the military justice litigation career track that,  

25   with numbers this low, at some point you begin to  
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 1   lose currency and competence, and we're in a very  

 2   difficult spot right now, and we have to take the  

 3   strident measures that I think the leadership of the  

 4   JAG corps has taken to organize and align our  

 5   resources enough that the lawyers in the courtroom  

 6   are getting sufficient training and in order to do  

 7   those cases. 

 8            MR. MOLZAHN:  Are you only talking about  

 9   the Navy at this point in time?  Does the Marine  

10   Corps have the same problem or less of a problem?   

11            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  The Marine Corps has less  

12   of a problem.  Their caseload is double what ours  

13   is, so I think that is less keenly felt on the  

14   Marine Corps side. 

15            You can see how the back pressure can build  

16   with operational law and command advice demand  

17   signal in the blue wedge and the sailor and family  

18   assistance in the yellow wedge, that portion of our  

19   practice, that is courts martial litigation, even  

20   though it's still a significant 20 percent,  

21   including SJA work and all the work of a trial  

22   defense counsel and the courts, it's easy to see how  

23   a demand signal would draw resources from where the  

24   demand signal is less.  So we have to keep our eye  

25   on that paradigm and be sure that we're not short  

0108 

 1   changing military justice by diverting resources to  

 2   other areas. 

 3            Navy Legal Service Command is, as I'm sure  

 4   you know, the primary mechanism by which we staff  

 5   prosecutors and defense counsel.  They all reside  

 6   within Naval Legal Service Command in one of two  

 7   offices, either regional legal service office, which  

 8   will house the prosecutors, or Naval legal service  

 9   office which provides the home for the defense  

10   counsel.  This model has served us since the 1980s,  

11   even though we realigned in 1996 and broke out into  

12   trial service offices and neighborhood service  

13   offices and realigned again in 2006 to regionalize  

14   those former TSOs in order that they could be more  

15   efficient and match the commander Naval  

16   installations organization of our convening  

17   authorities.  Now I think we're on the verge of  

18   moving forward yet again in 2010.   

19            In further answer to Mr. Molzahn's question  

20   that this is an area where we're reorganizing  

21   specifically to address the caseload and the  

22   experience level.  We don't know what particular  

23   mechanism will be settled on yet, but I think the  

24   judge advocate general talked to you a little bit  

25   about this during his time with you that we  
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 1   anticipate that the legal service offices will be  

 2   smaller and more focused into trial defense commands  

 3   of some sort, and that will help us reestablish a  

 4   healthier counsel-to-caseload ratio so that those  

 5   young counsel are getting into court more and have  

 6   the proper supervision so that they can mature into  

 7   competent litigators. 

 8            MR. MOLZAHN:  May I break in a moment?   

 9            Colonel Collins, this might be for you, as  

10   well.  I have no intention to be provocative or  

11   naive about this question, but I might be both.  If,  

12   in fact, the Navy is facing a real challenge because  

13   it doesn't have enough cases to bring, maybe its  

14   younger attorneys in the military justice and the  

15   Marine Corps has cases, have you thought about using  

16   Navy lawyers on Marine Corps cases to gain some  

17   experience there? 

18            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Have we thought about  

19   it?  Yes, sir.  I'm sure that's been thought of.   

20   We've had discussions about that.  I think it's  

21   certainly something that falls in the realm of the  

22   possible, but given that we're separate services,  

23   and we are most separate at the trial level, Navy  

24   lawyers are not generally located where the Marine  

25   Corps business is, and vice versa.  It's a different  
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 1   answer at the trial judiciary and appellate  

 2   judiciary level where we are integrated but the  

 3   service is organized differently and located in  

 4   different places, so I think that would probably  

 5   entail a pretty significant physical reorganization  

 6   as well as simply a functional reorganization. 

 7            COLONEL COLLINS:  The one area that you see  

 8   a lot of mixed counsel is southwest, San Diego,  

 9   Pendleton where they have several cases, they have  

10   conflicts, they will bring Navy lawyers up to try  

11   those cases.  In particular, if you take a look at  

12   the Homdania cases, there were Navy lawyers  

13   defending Marines in those cases.  Also, I've seen  

14   in my experience where you have a real remote  

15   location like, say, Marine Corps air station  

16   Iwakuni, we would bring in a Navy lawyer from time  

17   to time for complex cases also from either Yokusuka,  

18   or Sasebo.  Just depends on the location. 

19            MR. MOLZAHN:  Thank you. 

20            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Moving to the trial  

21   judiciary, the map there shows you where our six  

22   circuits reside.  We have nine Navy judges and 14  

23   Marine Corps judges in the combined Navy Marine  

24   Corps trial judiciary.  As I indicated earlier, in  

25   the past year they passed 960 cases in the field,  
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 1   276 Navy and 684 Marine Corps cases. 



 2            On the appellate court, this indicates  

 3   staffing levels, and you see that back in the early  

 4   2000s there were only six or seven judges on the  

 5   court, and it required a plus-up up to nearly 18  

 6   judges in 2007-2008 time frame to clear the backlog  

 7   that had grown in this court and combine with those  

 8   judges an increasing number of clerks as well as  

 9   contract employees to bring that caseload down.  Now  

10   that the backlog has cleared, we no longer employ  

11   the contract employees, but we've retained the  

12   clerks because we found that to be a very  

13   significant contribution to the court's productivity  

14   and to the experience of the young attorneys that  

15   serve clerkships to the appellate court. 

16            MS. MILLER:  Excuse me.  Are the law clerks  

17   JAGs? 

18            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  They are, yes, ma'am. 

19            MS. MILLER:  Thank you. 

20            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Our reserve component is  

21   very well employed in military justice.  They  

22   recently reorganized themselves in three pillars  

23   that I believe you've had some description about.   

24   The trial judiciary is well supported with ten Navy  

25   judges in trial judiciary units, eight Marine Corps  
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 1   trial judges on the appellate side.  We also have  

 2   ten Navy and two Marine Corps.  On the trial side  

 3   our reserves are seamlessly interwoven with our  

 4   active duty judges.  They are assigned to cases,  

 5   they come on active duty, they fly to wherever the  

 6   case is and dispose of the case, particularly in  

 7   areas or at times when an active duty judge may not  

 8   be available.  So very good support to both the  

 9   trial and the appellate judiciary from their service  

10   reserve counterparts. 

11            Education and training, I'm going to defer  

12   to Mike Boock on the NJS course offerings.  Suffice  

13   it to say that they are robust, they are constantly  

14   under review.  We recently adopted some additional  

15   highly focused courses in the litigation arena.  We  

16   maintain our trial advocacy post-graduate education  

17   program, which has been a program of fairly  

18   longstanding.  We have four that will go to what we  

19   refer to as the triad LLM program at Temple  

20   University, George Washington University, and the  

21   University of San Diego.  Two of those, Temple and  

22   University of San Diego, also have clinical  

23   programs, so the counsel are not only getting an  

24   advanced degree, but they're actually in the  

25   courtroom trying cases. 
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 1            Military judge's qualification course has  

 2   also been around for a long time, but it is now  



 3   mandatory for all Navy Marine Corps trial and  

 4   appellate judges.  We have civilian training  

 5   coordinator residing down in criminal law division.   

 6   And we for quite a while had line officer training  

 7   but that's been refurbishing and, again, I'll defer  

 8   to Captain Boock on the specifics of those. 

 9            Case track systems, you're aware that the  

10   Navy uses what we call CMTIS.  It was inaugurated in  

11   2006 based on some off-the-shelf software that was  

12   actually quite good for measuring time and doing  

13   conflicts checks, and on that frame we invested over  

14   the years more and more time, money, and effort to  

15   get it to do more for us.  It captures data on  

16   workload, on case tracking, and it was designed in  

17   secure models so that the defense counsel would be  

18   comfortable using the system knowing that no one  

19   else can get into their module to get at their  

20   information.  And the same for government counsel to  

21   be secure from the defense side.  In May of this  

22   year we had some other recent upgrades, one of the  

23   difficulties that we learned about the system was if  

24   you were in a module, you could not see into the  

25   other module, so one of the things that's been done  
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 1   at the vice commander Navy Legal Service Command  

 2   level is to allow that office to be able to see  

 3   across all the modules and gather trial and  

 4   post-trial information they need to manage from  

 5   headquarters level.   

 6            Marine Corps also launched in February 2010  

 7   their case management system, which is a very fine  

 8   Lotus notes based case tracker.  It's providing all  

 9   the oversight that those in headquarters need to  

10   manage cases and keep an eye on cases. 

11            We clearly need a single system to get to  

12   where we need to be.  We need to be able to track  

13   all the Navy and Marine Corps cases.  We need to be  

14   able to do it electronically, including records of  

15   trial.  Also need to be able to capture what we do  

16   and for whom we do it, how long it takes us so we  

17   have the information that we need to get the  

18   resources that we need.  That may be a tall order  

19   for a single system, but that would be the ideal. 

20            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  I'm just going to  

21   ask a quick question.  I assume you're aware General  

22   Ary believes that the single system is CMTIS and CMS  

23   standing alone, and they can both be read.  Are you  

24   saying you think there should be just one for both  

25   services?   
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 1            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  There needs to be one  

 2   single system, yes, sir. 

 3            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Okay. 



 4            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  I don't know how you will  

 5   effectively manage going forward.  I mean, does it  

 6   work the way we have it now?  Yes, sir.  But it's a  

 7   labor intensive at times, and I think we are behind  

 8   where the private sector would be.  If you look at  

 9   systems like the justice department's use of ECMS  

10   Pacer, it's a case management system that is wholly  

11   electronic, and the litigants use it and the  

12   managers manage it.  Right now it's difficult, even  

13   though we can see all the cases in CMS on the Marine  

14   Corps side, it stops at the appellate level and has  

15   to be fed back into CMTIS so the appellate  

16   proceedings can be recorded.  CMS also does not  

17   collect data, workload data as CMTIS does, so there  

18   are differences with both of these systems, and  

19   we're certainly making them work, aware of their  

20   positive contributions and the challenges in using  

21   both the systems, but I think going forward we have  

22   to press for an integrated system or something that  

23   will integrate them as such as business intelligence  

24   that can ride on top of both the systems and draw  

25   the reports and oversight that you need to have. 
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 1            In addition to moving towards a single case  

 2   management system, we're looking to formalize the  

 3   successes of our law clerk program.  We're going to  

 4   complete filling the military justice litigation  

 5   career track billets.  We have 52 billets.  We just  

 6   last year reached 54 people in the community, so  

 7   we're about 83 percent filled.  It'll take another  

 8   year or so, I think, to get up to 65 that we need to  

 9   fill all the billets, but we've had a progression of  

10   increasing the billet fill rates over the last  

11   couple of years.  I expect that when we complete  

12   this year's detailing cycle, we'll make even more  

13   progress in filling those, and they'll continue that  

14   until they're all filled.   

15            I've already mentioned the reorganization  

16   of Naval Legal Service Command and that specifically  

17   to address the case-to-counsel ratio, and of course  

18   we're monitoring our standards, best practices and  

19   institutionalizing those in refreshed instructions  

20   and other formal mechanisms that will keep these  

21   changes as part of our institution so that we don't  

22   have to relearn any of these lessons. 

23            You asked me to address the report on the  

24   state of military justice.  I suspect that it's more  

25   a matter of questions you may wish to ask me about  
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 1   it.  I've summarized basically what the first report  

 2   was.  It was organized to match the stages in the  

 3   trial practice and then examine various impacts and  

 4   resources on each phase of the trial and the  



 5   appellate practice, resulting in 31 findings and 17  

 6    recommendations which the judge advocate general  

 7   adopted.  This year we will repeat that, and it's  

 8   going to become an annual requirement.  The judge  

 9   advocate general has proposed that it be  

10   incorporated into a Secretary of the Navy  

11   instruction, and once that's accomplished, it will  

12   then be an annual reporting requirement.  This year  

13   we'll pick up where we left off last year,  

14   addressing organization and infrastructure  

15   personnel, policies, practices, and procedures and  

16   performance measures for both the Navy and the  

17   Marine Corps. 

18            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Do you anticipate  

19   the responsibility for that annual report will  

20   always reside in your office?   

21            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  No, sir.  Not  

22   necessarily.  I think it is right now -- 

23            (Whereupon the proceedings were  

24            interrupted by a fire alarm, and  

25            the building was temporarily  
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 1            evacuated.) 

 2            MR. PUTZU:  Mr. Chairman, we can resume. 

 3            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  All right.  Get back  

 4   on the record after our fire alarm. 

 5            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Captain O'Toole  

 6   would probably better able to jump into the record  

 7   because of his experience on the bench, but the  

 8   question I just asked was whether or not the annual  

 9   report would reside in his office as the author, and  

10   you indicated? 

11            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  I indicated that I was  

12   initially asked to do it, and I have been asked to  

13   do it this year, but I don't know going forward that  

14   it will reside in the chief judge of the Department  

15   of the Navy's office or elsewhere.  I don't know  

16   that there's anything unique to my particular office  

17   in terms of developing this report.  It could be  

18   equally developed by the AJAG for criminal law,  

19   military justice, it could be developed by somebody  

20   in the OJAG side of the house, so I think that will  

21   just be something that we'll have to see what the  

22   admiral wants to do and what the Commandant's SJA  

23   wants to do more.  The 2010 report will include  

24   Marine Corps. 

25            MS. MILLER:  On the performance measures,  
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 1   as one of the focus areas, have you already touched  

 2   on the performance measures in the briefing, or are  

 3   there new ones?  Any novel thinking in that area? 

 4            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  No.  That will be to  

 5   review where we are and where we need to go based on  



 6   some of the slides that you've already seen on the  

 7   timing from sentence to convening authority's  

 8   action, CA, as to docketing decisions.  There may be  

 9   some others that we develop in the course of doing  

10   review that will result in a recommendation as we  

11   drill down into those various processes to see how  

12   they might be improved upon.   

13            MS. MILLER:  Thank you. 

14            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  If Foster were to be  

15   tried today, and you had a findings and sentence  

16   today, at what point under the new system would it  

17   show up as an anomaly? 

18            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  As soon as it would go  

19   over any of the timelines.  Actually, we have  

20   internal triggers that would alert either the Marine  

21   Corps or the Navy that they had a case that was  

22   potentially pushing the time limit on the 120 days  

23   from sentence to convening authority's action.  So  

24   that case would be reported up to the headquarters  

25   and alerted to headquarters at day 75.  So I don't  
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 1   see that there would be a chance for that segment to  

 2   be broken in the future like it was at Foster. 

 3            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Thanks. 

 4            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Yes, sir.   

 5            I'd also like to clarify something I said  

 6   earlier.  I mentioned the Parker case.  We actually  

 7   don't have the Parker case yet.  We have the Walker  

 8   case.  The Walker case was resentenced in a  

 9   noncapital sentence.  Parker is still in various  

10   stages at post-trial.  That is a capital case, but  

11   it's pending a hearing at the moment. 

12            MR. MOLZAHN:  Captain and Colonel, your  

13   report concluded, I think, that one of the key  

14   factors, if not the key factors, is lack of  

15   consistent focus, and let me ask you, other than the  

16   metrics and perhaps the report that's going to be  

17   sent to SECNAV and the Commandant, let's just go  

18   kind of ten years from now where we don't have,  

19   where Foster is a distant memory for everyone.  Is  

20   there anything other than the metrics and the  

21   report, do you think, that would make it crystal  

22   clear if something, if not Foster, something similar  

23   to Foster came back again?  In other words, what is  

24   there in the various improvements we've made that  

25   will essentially force this consistent focus you  
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 1   think is necessary? 

 2            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  I think we have a couple  

 3   of mechanisms.  One is the technical clarity that we  

 4   have achieved, which is superior to what existed  

 5   during the pendency of the Foster case.  So I think  

 6   by technical, looking at the case perspective,  



 7   that's not going to retrograde.  That will only  

 8   continue to improve.  I think that's a very  

 9   important key to being able to process something.   

10   You have to know where it is and what the status  

11   is.  Now we can do that, and that was clearly an  

12   implication of the Foster case.  But more than that,  

13   I think we have institutionalized some structural  

14   change in the Navy and the Marine Corps in both the  

15   composition and the rules governing the court itself  

16   and the oversight of the court, both in the office  

17   of the chief judge of the department and in the  

18   military justice oversight council.  Once those are  

19   institutionalized, it will be very difficult to lose  

20   focus, and if you have the management tools at your  

21   disposal, there would be no area that I would see  

22   that would be vulnerable to allowing the Foster case  

23   to happen again. 

24            LT. GENERAL OSMAN:  Captain O'Toole, you  

25   just said the key word, institutionalized.  The  
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 1   trims look very good, you've put in place the checks  

 2   and balances you need, but it is the  

 3   institutionalization of those that is critical.   

 4   Where are you on keeping those areas of oversight  

 5   things in place that will prevent, if you will, what  

 6   Mr. Molzahn just said, 15 years we're having the  

 7   same conversation. 

 8            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Aside from the  

 9   technology, which I think is a different genre of  

10   concern, the structure of the Department of the Navy  

11   now includes the Secretary of the Navy has approved  

12   the position I presently hold, so that is a piece of  

13   the structure of the Navy in that regulation.  The  

14   judge advocate general has also published what is  

15   essentially a job description that includes the  

16   supervisory duties.  The court of appeals procedures  

17   and internal operating procedures are instructional,  

18   so those are already accomplished.  The military  

19   justice oversight council is in draft, so once that  

20   is signed, and if it's signed at the secretarial  

21   level, that will be a very significant structural  

22   piece.  So all of those together, I think, cover  

23   those areas that were not well focused in the Foster  

24   case. 

25            Additionally, I should also add that the  

0123 

 1   JAG has also written a detailing policy and the  

 2   training policies are also JAG instructions that  

 3   require the mix of judges on the court to include  

 4   experienced trial judges and military justice  

 5   litigation career track judges.  So to the extent  

 6   Foster case, any part of Foster was attributable to  

 7   a lack of sophistication by the judge, I think  



 8   that's also been corrected by the kind of  

 9   individuals that are going to be placed on the court  

10   and the training they're required to have. 

11            LT. GENERAL OSMAN:  Thank you. 

12            MS. MILLER:  To summarize, you don't see  

13   any continuing gaps?  I recognize the oversight  

14   council still needs to be signed off, it's en  

15   route.  Do you think the system that obviously is a  

16   very important part has responded and there aren't  

17   any lurking issues that will come back to haunt the  

18   Navy moving forward five or ten years from now?   

19            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Yes, ma'am.  That's my  

20   expectation now.  Of course, we'll do the 2010  

21   report and look at it again to see if we can find a  

22   weakness.  If we do, we'll correct that.  As of now,  

23   I'm satisfied that we've taken our cue from the  

24   debrief of the Foster case and taken the corrective  

25   action that we need and institutionalized so we  
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 1   don't need to do it again. 

 2            COLONEL COLLINS:  I would add one more  

 3   thing.  If we can have all the things in place, all  

 4   the checks and balances, all the checklist -- one  

 5   thing I don't have a checklist on is engaged  

 6   leadership.  15 years from now, leadership is not  

 7   engaged, not taking this military justice stuff  

 8   seriously, we will have Foster.  So we need engaged  

 9   leaders, we need to set the standard, we need to  

10   train to those standards, expect those standards.   

11   That's how we keep going.  If someone comes into my  

12   place and is more interested in the type of case or  

13   what's in this case instead of the process of the  

14   case, you could experience problems.  So leadership  

15   is key to everything we do or we fail to do. 

16            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  I apologize for an  

17   obvious question, but I'm not sure we have this on  

18   record.  CMS continue to track the cases through the  

19   process of court of appeals beyond forces with CAP,  

20   or does it end with the Navy?   

21            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  CMTIS continues to track  

22   the cases. 

23            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Through CAP?   

24            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Yes, sir. 

25            COLONEL COLLINS:  It's not the best way of  
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 1   doing it.  I mean, right now I have currently 492  

 2   cases on deck.  And that includes cases that Captain  

 3   O'Toole has with NMCCA, there are 22 cases I have at  

 4   CAAF, other cases that I'm watching are the mandates  

 5   that go back out in the field.  I'm watching those,  

 6   and I have a mandate track on that.  In addition to  

 7   that, I have roughly, I do have 245 cases that are  

 8   currently in the post-appellate process.  That means  



 9   we're waiting for time lags to run so we can issue  

10   the promulgation order.  These guys can do all the  

11   greatest job in the world, but if I don't process  

12   these cases out and discharge the marine or sailor,  

13   that still both speaks against us.  Yes, I use  

14   CMTIS, yes, I use CMS, yes, I use appellate  

15   tracker.  I'm using all these places to track.  I do  

16   not have one system in the NAMARA that I use to  

17   maintain my oversight and make sure my folks are  

18   doing the jobs they're supposed to be doing. 

19            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Thanks, Captain  

20   O'Toole.   

21            One question before you begin.  Was Foster  

22   unanimous? 

23            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  It was a panel decision,  

24   and as I recall, it was, there was a concurring  

25   opinion, but it was a three judge panel. 
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 1            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  A three-on decision? 

 2            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  Yes, sir. 

 3            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Thanks. 

 4            COLONEL COLLINS:  Good afternoon,  

 5   Mr. Chairman, distinguished panel members.  I  

 6   appreciate the opportunity to talk to you about the  

 7   military justice, specifically, military justice at  

 8   the appellate level. 

 9            As you know, military justice is really the  

10   reason we have judge advocates within the armed  

11   services.  The defenses that we have cover a wide  

12   range of topics, everything from typical criminal  

13   misconduct like civilians would have like rape,  

14   murder, military crimes. 

15            I wasn't sure if you were going to have the  

16   opportunity to have the DOD OIG report, so I pushed  

17   a lot of the information in backup slides, and  

18   those, I know those have been made available to  

19   you.  With that, we'll keep moving. 

20            I have the data from 1990 to 2009, Marine  

21   Corps data here.  As you see, our numbers have been  

22   going down, and if you look in the back, there are  

23   backup slides actually have that depicted out, and,  

24   you know, our general courts martial really, when  

25   you say, okay, we bumped up 20 this year or dropped  
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 1   20 last year, really doesn't change a whole heck of  

 2   a lot. 

 3            Next slide, please. 

 4            Here are the Navy numbers, again, we also  

 5   see a common trend downward. 

 6            Next please. 

 7            These are FY10 numbers.  These are the  

 8   records that we currently receive at the court.   

 9   That's not all the courts martial that Captain  



10   O'Toole was talking about, but we only received 750  

11   courts martial this past FY10.  Just see Marine  

12   Corps had 502 records forwarded to us, and the Navy  

13   had 252.  We forwarded up to the court 671 records  

14   for Article 66 reviews.  If you take a look at Code  

15   20, they reviewed 69A and 69B cases.  Those cases  

16   are cases that would not go up to the appellate  

17   court.  For example a general court martial that did  

18   not receive punitive discharge or confinement less  

19   than a year.  And then I also get all GCM acquittals  

20   are forwarded to NAMARA, and this year we received  

21   27 case acquittals.   

22            Set forth here, I went out to all the SJAs  

23   about a year ago and said, why do we see a  

24   decreasing number in courts martial across the Navy  

25   and the Marine Corps?  Some could argue that just  
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 1   Navy's drop in end strength from 540 to 326, yet the  

 2   Marine Corps also increased its end strength from  

 3   approximately 175 to 202.  And of all the services,  

 4   the Marine Corps historically does more courts  

 5   martial than any other service, yet we still keep  

 6   seeing the numbers down. 

 7            There are a lot of things happening out  

 8   there.  For example, down in Camp Lejeune the fast  

 9   tracking locator, where a person will going to  

10   summary court martial.  The commander will waive an  

11   admin discharge board and be administratively  

12   separated from the service.  Instead of, ten years  

13   ago, all drug cases were going to some type of  

14   special or general court martial. 

15            I would argue that I know some folks have  

16   said that NCIS is not investigating, they're more  

17   focused on force protection, those types of issues.   

18   From what I can see in my relationship with NCIS,  

19   and we do have a close relationship with NCIS,  

20   especially Code 20.  NCIS, I would argue in 2002,  

21   2003 post 9-11, they had shifted to a force  

22   protection mindset.  You can even see that in their  

23   strategic plans for those years.  Since then they  

24   have now refocused their efforts back on criminal  

25   justice, and they are investigating those cases.   
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 1   2002, 2003 absolutely.  Now they have moved back to  

 2   their core topics. 

 3            You can see over the years 1990 to 2009,  

 4   the Navy JAG corps leadership has really tried to  

 5   get a handle on tracking cases.  I mean, trying to  

 6   get to IT, I mean, basically you take a case from  

 7   cradle to grave.  Right now we're basically working  

 8   at NAMARA, we have CMTIS, we have court martial  

 9   tracking system that the Navy rolled out in 2006.   

10   At NAMARA I'm also using an Excel spreadsheet that I  



11   pulled data from CMTIS and CMS.  I use CMS all the  

12   time.  I can look down into CMS, see what cases are  

13   inbound to me.  Then we also use SharePoint within  

14   NAMARA.  SharePoint is a file computing system that  

15   the Marine Corps has allowed us to play with.  I'll  

16   describe SharePoint in a little bit. 

17            These are the branches I currently have.   

18   Under the O2 responsibility, code 20 is my policy  

19   folks.  If you refer to the 19 -- 2010 JAG report to  

20   the American Bar Association, Admiral Houck laid out  

21   our responsibilities in detail in that report.  So  

22   instead of going over them with you here, because we  

23   provided that information to them, that's what that  

24   information contained. 

25            Code 30 was moved over to me in February.   
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 1   Basically they do all my national security  

 2   litigation.  They help from the investigative stage  

 3   all the way to and include the post-trial process.   

 4   They make sure we handle the classified  

 5   information.   

 6            Yes, sir? 

 7            MR. MOLZAHN:  I wasn't going to ask a  

 8   question, but I will now that you hesitated. 

 9            On Code 30 are you satisfied that we have  

10   the level of expertise and the experience to handle  

11   massive security litigation cases?   

12            COLONEL COLLINS:  I think we have the  

13   experience with Code 30 to handle the day-to-day  

14   operations, to handle the MRE 505 type of  

15   information, making sure we push the information,  

16   the original classification authority for review to  

17   help with Social Security -- I mean security  

18   clearances.  We do have that expertise.  Now, if  

19   we're talking about a case like we had back in the  

20   Marine Corps in the late '80s, 1980s -- I just went  

21   blank. 

22            MR. MOLZAHN:  That was the Navy King case. 

23            COLONEL COLLINS:  The King case, but I also  

24   think about the Marine Corps when you have embassy  

25   guards. 
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 1            LT. GENERAL OSMAN:  Lonetree. 

 2            COLONEL COLLINS:  Yes, sir.  Those are  

 3   unique cases, and that would require me to beef up  

 4   Code 30 and get help.  But on a day-to-day, we have  

 5   cases out in Pendleton, whatever, they're more than  

 6   able to handle these cases. 

 7            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Have you had a case  

 8   since King? 

 9            COLONEL COLLINS:  No, we have not.  We've  

10   had some national security cases that come in, for  

11   example, Camp Pendleton we have, some folks in that  



12   were taking classified information using them that  

13   civilian jobs.  We've held people accountable for  

14   that. 

15            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  So we have tested the  

16   system, if you will? 

17            COLONEL COLLINS:  Yes, sir, but again,  

18   that's a very small type of case. 

19            As you see within each of my branches I  

20   have very senior leadership.  You have O6 to O5.   

21   Code 40, code 40's my favorite code of all codes.   

22   I'll tell you why.  I have two civilians, but I also  

23   have a gunnery sergeant, two sergeants, five  

24   corporals and a lance corporal, so I go down to  

25   Code 40 and get screened there every day.  The  
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 1   junior marines in that code are led by an  

 2   outstanding gunnery sergeant, and they do a  

 3   fantastic job.   

 4            Code 45 and code 46 are my appellate codes,  

 5   appellate defendants and appellate government.   

 6   Again, they both have outstanding deputies who are  

 7   experienced Marine Corps or Navy judge advocates in  

 8   the reserve, and they have experienced appellate  

 9   level, so they help manage those cases over a long  

10   period of time.  The leadership will come and go,  

11   but having a civilian deputy there really helps me  

12   in the continuity within the code. 

13            These are the tools that I use to monitor  

14   and supervise my cases.  Like I said, right now I  

15   currently have 482 cases on deck.  I have an Excel  

16   spreadsheet that I pull data from, either from CMTIS  

17   or CMS.  I have a mandates tracker.  What happened  

18   is I showed up in 2008, mandates would go back out  

19   to the field, and NAMARA basically just washed their  

20   hands.  We'd send records out for new trials,  

21   whatever, we have no way of tracking them.  Now the  

22   way I handle mandates, I do not send back the  

23   original record trial.  I'll said back a certified  

24   true copy.  The mandate, the original record will  

25   sit on my files.  That way, when I do my audits, I  
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 1   know exactly what I have, and I'm also tracking out  

 2   in the field and poking the SJA or the regional  

 3   legal service office in the eye and saying, hey,  

 4   where's my case?   

 5            Within code 45 and 46 I have triggers as  

 6   far as enlargements.  My appellate defense counsel  

 7   know that I will allow two enlargements, but the  

 8   third enlargement, they're coming into my office,  

 9   and we're going to have a little chat to find out  

10   why.  Right now, I found out I have one case that's  

11   on it's third enlargement.  Only one.  The reason is  

12   we have civilian counsel.  And need to say director  



13   of Code 45 found out about it this morning, and he  

14   was in my office real quick this morning to  

15   explain.   

16            As far as case management system, we're  

17   trying to track everything.  We look everywhere,  

18   just to make sure we don't lose anything.  I don't  

19   mean lose, we're taking an active role in trying to  

20   make sure we don't.  Like I say, I use Navy CMTIS, I  

21   use Marine Corps CMS, we do have the MJOC, I have my  

22   appellate case trackers that are updated daily that  

23   I can tell where all my cases any particular point.   

24   I have an active mandate tracker.  We take our  

25   appellate case tracker, and I will bounce it off the  
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 1   brig report to make sure if everyone's in the brig,  

 2   I have a case on that individual.  I also send it  

 3   over to the Navy Marine Corps appellate review  

 4   activity, and they make sure everyone who is on  

 5   appellate leave, I have a case for because they are  

 6   maintained.  I conduct internal audits to make sure  

 7   there's not a case on there that is misfiled or lost  

 8   file and we have our SharePoint site.   

 9            The Navy leadership has really invested a  

10   lot of time and capital into their case tracking  

11   system.  It's great up through, in my opinion, up to  

12   the deputy commander.  It gives him the oversight  

13   that he needs to make sure that his folks are  

14   meeting the Moreno timelines from the day of  

15   sentencing to getting the case up to me within 120  

16   days or 30 days of the date of the CA's action.  But  

17   the trouble with CMTIS is it's about one third of my  

18   cases.  I have the Navy cases in CMTIS, I have  

19   partial Marine Corps cases in CMTIS because the  

20   Marine Corps judges are all required to put some of  

21   that data into CMTIS, but if you run a report for  

22   the appellate level on CMTIS on how many cases we  

23   have or the detail of it, you'll see missing fields,  

24   especially on the Marine cases, and there is a  

25   report that is generated right now under CMTIS.   
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 1   They're working hard to get it right.  They're 82  

 2   pages long, and it's really an unmanageable  

 3   management tool, where my appellate case tracker has  

 4   current information, up to date and 39 pages long  

 5   and has both Navy and Marine Corps cases.  So that's  

 6   where we're having the problem.  I got it, but I got  

 7   two systems feeding into the Navy Marine Corps  

 8   appellate review activity, and hopefully we'll  

 9   figure this out.  I know hope isn't a plan, but we  

10   gotta get it right, and we've gotta make sure that  

11   the data I have is correct, that it's manageable,  

12   it's searchable, and that I know at any time that I  

13   have all my cases.  Right now with one system,  



14   CMTIS, I know I have the Navy cases, CMS I know I  

15   have the Marine cases. 

16            MS. MILLER:  This is a comment, I guess,  

17   but maybe also comes from your comment about  

18   hopefully.  You know, usually in briefings about IT  

19   stuff these days, people are very hesitant to say  

20   they're relying on Excel spreadsheets because it  

21   seems prehistoric, but I recognize it seems to be  

22   working, and I'm not trying to undermine, but I'm  

23   just wondering if you have a real sense of urgency  

24   about moving beyond where you are now? 

25            COLONEL COLLINS:  I do.  I'm a marine.   
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 1   I'll use what's comfortable, but I just need that  

 2   tool.  We are looking, and we'll talk about it in a  

 3   second, the way ahead, but I know Excel spreadsheet  

 4   is a temporary fix, but it's the one way I feel  

 5   comfortable right now making sure I have my cases  

 6   because the systems are not communicating. 

 7            LT. GENERAL OSMAN:  Let me make sure I  

 8   understand you.  The marine system CMS does not take  

 9   you through appellate process, you have to crossover  

10   to CMTIS in order to track the Marines in this  

11   appellate process? 

12            COLONEL COLLINS:  General Ary has added a  

13   couple things to CMS, and my folks, here's how it  

14   works with CMS.  When I get a marine case into CMS,  

15   of course, I can see through the system, like today,  

16   I went down, I know there's, like, 78 cases coming  

17   to me for post-trial process in the marine side.  So  

18   I can look right there on my desktop.  When a case  

19   comes in, my marines in Code 40 will do the  

20   inspection Captain O'Toole talked about.  Takes them  

21   less than a day, make sure all the exhibits are  

22   there, those type of things.  They will then at that  

23   point log in, case received at NAMARA.  So the  

24   field, like at Camp Pendleton, they know we have  

25   that case because we have just logged into CMS and  
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 1   put the date we received it.  We also then will take  

 2   the case up to the court.  When the court dockets  

 3   that case in CMS, we put that date in, so we have  

 4   that.   

 5            So they know they can run a report and  

 6   right now the report, you print it off, and it says  

 7   I have 189 cases, marine case at NAMARA, that's  

 8   correct.  Some are at Dan's level some of going up  

 9   to CAAF.  Some are in the post-trial process.  What  

10   happens is then when a case is complete, notice of  

11   appellate review is complete, we put that  

12   information on our SharePoint site.  SharePoint site  

13   is cloud computing.  It's basically a server down in  

14   Quantico.  The Navy Marine Corps appellate review  



15   committee has access to that site.  They see that,  

16   oh, this case is done, these cases are done, so they  

17   can process them.  So then the CO at the Navy Marine  

18   Corps appellate review committee will sign off on  

19   the final promulgation order and the 214.  The final  

20   promulgation order is sent back to us  

21   electronically, we upload that into CMS, as soon as  

22   we upload it into CMS, that case goes to closed  

23   file, and the unit would know, okay, they have  

24   completed the appellate review, and they then can  

25   pull it up, say this is the case of Collins, they  
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 1   can pull up Collins, look, there's a final  

 2   promulgation order, we can now close the file in  

 3   Camp Lejeune. 

 4            Now, in order for Captain O'Toole to work  

 5   his stuff in CMTIS, I have to transport right now a  

 6   lot of that information from CMS, hand jam it over  

 7   to CMTIS, so they can keep their track -- their  

 8   information going.  It's frustrating. 

 9            LT. GENERAL OSMAN:  Dysfunctional comes to  

10   mind. 

11            COLONEL COLLINS:  Yes. And that's why  

12   Captain O'Toole is talking about one system. 

13            MR. MOLZAHN:  Let me ask you a question.   

14   You described what you would have to do.  Let's just  

15   say it's not you, it's somebody at Camp Pendleton  

16   who has some interest or need to follow a case  

17   through appellate process.  Does that Marine Corps  

18   judge advocate, whoever they might be at Camp  

19   Pendleton, are they able to access something from  

20   their desktop that will allow them to follow the  

21   case through appellate process?   

22            COLONEL COLLINS:  Right now they can access  

23   CMS, that will show where the case comes in, when  

24   it's been docketed with the court.  I know, talking  

25   with General Ary, we could easily add a couple more  
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 1   screens to that.  For instance, they are going to  

 2   add case to NMCCA, case to CAAF.  They would add  

 3   those dates in there.  They could upload, but right  

 4   now it basically stops when it hits Code 40. 

 5            MR. MOLZAHN:  In they want to instant know,  

 6   they have to basically call. 

 7            COLONEL COLLINS:  Exactly.  For example,  

 8   today I received an e-mail from regional defense  

 9   counsel on a case he had a couple years ago, and he  

10   wanted the information.  I pull my Excel  

11   spreadsheet, went right back to him and said, here's  

12   where we are now. 

13            Now, I do send the Excel spreadsheet out,  

14   and I also send out every month a report, another  

15   Excel spreadsheet to all the SJAs and RLSO COs and  



16   say, these are the cases I received this month for  

17   the month of September.  Like, for example, last  

18   month we received 35 cases that went up to NMCCA,  

19   but a total of 49 cases, acquittals and those type  

20   of things. 

21            Next, please. 

22            Again, this is the CMS system that we  

23   talked about earlier.  It does give me oversight,  

24   and the nice thing about with CMS when I'm running  

25   my -- to make sure I'm properly manned and equipped  
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 1   to do my job, I can look into CMS and see if there's  

 2   a trend coming down the line.  Right now I know  

 3   there are 87 cases in the post-trial process.  That  

 4   means within 120 days, because some of those cases  

 5   were just recently decided, sentenced two days ago,  

 6   I know within the next 120 days I'll receive  

 7   approximately 87 cases from the Marine Corps, maybe  

 8   more.  But I can at least see the trends, and that  

 9   way can I make sure I'm properly manned within Code  

10   45 and 46. 

11            MR. MOLZAHN:  I'm sorry.  Do you do that  

12   with CMTIS, as well? 

13            COLONEL COLLINS:  I can look down in CMTIS  

14   and see what's coming in, yes, sir. 

15            Again, this is what we discussed about the  

16   problems with CMS and CMTIS without having a common  

17   operational picture.  If I could have a copy that  

18   basically showed everything coming in, that would be  

19   the way to go.  The other thing is, as Captain  

20   O'Toole was talking about, ECMS Pacer, if you're at,  

21   say the case of Collins, you want a system where my  

22   appellate counsel can go in, and let's say a request  

23   for legal services comes in, and it's for the case  

24   of Collins.  My guy can go in, type in Collins, type  

25   in the last four of the Social Security Number, and  
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 1   that would pull in that data from some personnel  

 2   system and populate the chart.  It would work on  

 3   that system, and that case would start to be tracked  

 4   automatically through that system.  When motions  

 5   were filed, the case, the record of trial was  

 6   completed, it would all be in that system.  And then  

 7   when it comes up to appellate review, defense put  

 8   their motion in, and basically it's all electronic,  

 9   we have a paperless system, it goes from cradle to  

10   grave, and I can go in there and manipulate the data  

11   and say, how many cases came out of third marine  

12   division, I can see how many Article 120 cases we  

13   have.  That would be the ideal system and would cut  

14   down on the amount of paperwork, and I could get  

15   away from my Excel spreadsheet. 

16            Right now, as Captain O'Toole said, we have  



17   a CNA study, he's looking across all these systems.   

18   You know, we just hope there's an honest assessment,  

19   that they really bore down into the requirements  

20   that we have, and hopefully in mid-October when they  

21   roll out, they will take a look at what we have.   

22            We have also done a couple other things in  

23   the short-term to help speed the process.  Code 46,  

24   my appellate government division, allows us, we are  

25   now taking records electronically.  Basically, we're  
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 1   scanning them in, setting bookmarks, and we can  

 2   transmit those records at trial electronically to  

 3   the court via the SharePoint site.  This thing has  

 4   the potential, really, to revolutionize how we do  

 5   cases and speed the process behind it.  And the  

 6   other thing we're going to do and we've put in a  

 7   request for an order is give my folks the equipment  

 8   that they need.  So what I want is two streams in my  

 9   appellate codes so they can put the record of trial  

10   over here and do their briefs over here and pull  

11   back and forth.  Right now my folks have one  

12   screen.  If we can put two of them together, that  

13   will enhance their ability to even process these  

14   cases quicker and be more accurate with the  

15   information available back and forth between the two  

16   screens. 

17            Our SharePoint site, it's like cloud  

18   computing.  It's off the Marine Corps server.  It's  

19   Web based.  It's basically a virtual office.  My  

20   folks can be at Camp Lejeune working a case, and  

21   they can pull up their information from the  

22   SharePoint site.  The best way to phrase it is when  

23   I would send you an e-mail with a large attachment,  

24   I would overload your in-box.  Now what I can do is  

25   say, if you go to our SharePoint site, I have three  
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 1   gigabytes worth of information there that you need  

 2   to review, and you can then go into that SharePoint  

 3   site, open up these different attachments.  It's Web  

 4   based, it's CAC enabled, you have to have a CAC  

 5   card, and you have to have, the site administrator  

 6   has to give you permission to go into the site.  I  

 7   know the site administrator.  He's really tough.   

 8   It's me.   

 9            And then the other thing that we've done is  

10   with Code 46 appellate government, they have a blog,  

11   a wiki with other appellate government folks so they  

12   can put an issues out there, and you have the  

13   Coast Guard and the Air Force all comment and the  

14   Army all commenting on this, whatever the issue of  

15   the day is.   

16            Code 46 also runs a monthly prosecutor's  

17   meeting where they get everybody up on VTC and talk  



18   about the current cases, what are we doing, what's  

19   the issues of the day. 

20            Now, as far as I keep hearing the term  

21   cases are more complex.  In some ways we do, our  

22   cases are more complex.  We've got computer  

23   forensics, DNA, medical testimony that we did not  

24   back in the dark ages.  But also we continue to use  

25   that term complex cases to cover up laziness.  Our  
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 1   counsel have to be engaged.  So when I hear complex  

 2   cases, I really need to say okay, because they're  

 3   complex or because the trial counsel is not doing  

 4   his or her job?  Sometimes folks will say the case  

 5   is complex and I'm hiding.  They tend to say it's  

 6   too hard.  Well, no.  Just means you have to work  

 7   harder. 

 8            Again, long-term solutions, this would be  

 9   Pete Collins' dream, single case track system.   

10   Truly electronic record of trial where everyone does  

11   the work and automatically tracks those case.  As  

12   you know, this is the type of thing I would have.   

13   If I was the prosecutor, and I filed a motion, and  

14   Captain Boock was my defense counsel, it would  

15   automatically or defense counsel on the opposing  

16   side would automatically send him a notice that the  

17   government just filed a motion.  That way it would  

18   pop up on his screen, some of what some of the  

19   federal systems are doing now.  It has to be easy  

20   and secure, and people have to be held accountable  

21   to use it. 

22            MS. MILLER:  I just want to make one  

23   comment on the CNA study and benchmark you're  

24   doing.  The Pacer system is already well over a  

25   decade old, and I mean it certainly, I think, is  
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 1   ahead of what's available to you all right now, but  

 2   you may, there's a lot just because level of  

 3   services, generally, if you have an interesting  

 4   target market, there's a lot of stuff going on in  

 5   the IT technological support world that's probably  

 6   well ahead of what Pacer is.  So I'm just hoping  

 7   that CNA's been asked to benchmark against some of  

 8   the other developments that may not have made their  

 9   way into the federal system yet. 

10            COLONEL COLLINS:  I don't know the answer  

11   to that, but I'll find out. 

12            These are just basically some things we  

13   have to think about the long-term, making all our  

14   military justice regulations are in one spot.  Right  

15   now Code 46 we are coming up with a beta testing a  

16   standard staff judge advocate review and a standard  

17   CA action that will push out across the field.   

18   We'll finish that beta testing by the end of the  



19   month.   

20            The only reason I put U.S. versus Denedo up  

21   on there is Denedo had been discharged from the  

22   United States Navy and then came back into the court  

23   system on a petition, a writ.  And the Supreme Court  

24   basically said that Denedo had the ability to do  

25   that.  I haven't seen it yet, but that could put a  
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 1   resources demand on us if all of a sudden all 35,000  

 2   cases, everyone starts filing writs to us, that  

 3   could cause problems.   

 4            Another way to save resources is waiver of  

 5   appellate review.  1950 and 1951 when they enacted  

 6   the Uniform Code of Military Justice, we didn't have  

 7   lawyers, we had legal officers.  So the rights of  

 8   the individual were not protected.  Well, now, we  

 9   have military judges, lawyers, we have defense  

10   counsel, lawyers, and we have trial counsel who are  

11   lawyers.  If we could sometimes think about going  

12   along with all the other civilian practices and  

13   waive appellate review, that would reduce the number  

14   of cases we have coming up to the court and would  

15   require us to focus on those important cases.  As  

16   Captain O'Toole said, probably 80 to 85 percent of  

17   our cases are guilty plea and merit submissions  

18   where the staff counsel might it's a fine trial,  

19   don't see anything, probably --  

20            CAPTAIN O'TOOLE:  25 to 30 percent. 

21            COLONEL COLLINS:  -- of those cases.  And  

22   if you had the ability to waive appellate review at  

23   the trial level, of course, the government would  

24   save time, money, and expense, but also the  

25   individual would probably get a better deal. 
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 1            In summary, leadership must remain engaged,  

 2   as I talked to Captain O'Toole.  It's all about  

 3   leadership.  If folks aren't doing their job, if  

 4   leaders aren't exercising their oversight  

 5   responsibilities and make sure our junior sailors  

 6   and marines are doing their jobs, the system will  

 7   fail, regardless of the amount of checks and balance  

 8   you have.  Again, the effective case management  

 9   system. 

10            Next, please.  Like I said, we have  

11   procedures within Code 40 where it used to take 30  

12   days for record of trial from date of receipt to go  

13   up.  Now it takes a day or less.  I do hold my  

14   counsel accountable for excess enlargements.  We  

15   actively track our mandates.  We have triggers,  

16   we're looking everywhere.   

17            Now, the other thing is do I have a  

18   sufficient number of experienced counsel as assigned  

19   to NAMARA.  In my backup slides I provided all the  



20   numbers of all the different counsel and how many  

21   counsel we've had over the years and the different  

22   codes.  The key is not the numbers.  The key is the  

23   experience.  If I can have the second tour officer  

24   with 200 courts martial under his belt, I can tap  

25   that officer to do more work than, say, three brand  
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 1   new lieutenants out of the Naval justice school.  So  

 2   it's not the number.  Sufficient numbers to do the  

 3   case but also balance with experience. 

 4            Subject to your questions, that's all I  

 5   have. 

 6            LT. GENERAL OSMAN:  You mentioned the  

 7   waiver of the appellate review.  Is the requirement  

 8   for the appellate review a statutory regulation or a  

 9   regulation from DOD?   

10            COLONEL COLLINS:  It's statutory. 

11            MS. MILLER:  On the enlargement requests,  

12   is there any danger that you'll go too far in the  

13   direction of not getting through if it's a really  

14   complicated or demanding case that requires some  

15   extra time?   

16            COLONEL COLLINS:  No, ma'am.  If there's  

17   room, if there's reason, say it's a capital murder  

18   case.  I know a capital murder case is going to have  

19   more than three enlargements.  It's goes to have  

20   several.  My trigger now is three.  I report to the  

21   JAG when we have five.  If it's a capital murder  

22   case, I know we'll go beyond five, but at least we  

23   have oversight, and we know why.  I think in the  

24   past enlargements were just granted in cases, and  

25   that's what caused that little, not little, but a  
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 1   lot of the cases way back when.  Not just with Foster  

 2   but a lot of other cases too.  I think, I can't say,  

 3   it's always great to speculate what happened then,  

 4   but they were focused, I'm confident they were  

 5   focused based on processing a number of cases per  

 6   month.  If that's the method you're supposed to  

 7   process, pick a number, 50 cases a month, well, what  

 8   are you going to do?  Are you going to focus on the  

 9   50 easy cases and not first in first out but how can  

10   I make that metric?  I think that was problematic  

11   back in the 2000 time frame.  They worked hard, and  

12   they are processing cases, but the big cases that  

13   takes up their time, that was not happening.  So you  

14   gotta watch that.  You also have watch folks in  

15   confinement, make sure those cases, I know the court  

16   does, but put them on top because those are ones  

17   that are currently being penalized. 

18            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Can we dig a  

19   little deeper, because I have concern but also for  

20   the record, can you explain the dynamics between  



21   your role, supervisory role with regard to  

22   monitoring and the court's role with regard to  

23   they're the one that's going to grant enlargements. 

24            COLONEL COLLINS:  My responsibility on  

25   these enlargements is I own both appellate defense  
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 1   and appellate government so really I can't get too  

 2   deep in either side.  What I'm concerned about are  

 3   the enlargements is I want to make sure my people  

 4   are properly resourced, properly trained, and  

 5   properly equipped.  If they have that stuff, for  

 6   example, we had a case that they went to the fourth  

 7   enlargement or actually third enlargement.  I found  

 8   out about it, and the trouble was the appellate  

 9   defense counsel was having a hard time reviewing the  

10   evidence.  It was a child pornography case.  I was  

11   able to say, okay, what was the problem, help him  

12   fix that problem, and we resolved it.  That was the  

13   issue.  This helps me identify what the problems  

14   are.  If, for example, they had equipment failures,  

15   and they can't review their case or if it's reserve  

16   case, reserves are handling it and they can't pull  

17   the information off our SharePoint site to review  

18   the case, if I know about it, I can fix it.  That's  

19   one of my trip wires.  That's my answer. 

20            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Anything else for  

21   colonel Collins?   

22            Shall we take a break at this point?  Let's  

23   take a break before we hear from Captain Boock. 

24            (Pause in proceedings.) 

25            MR. PUTZU:  Mr. Chairman, before we resume,  
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 1   we're going to -- there is an opportunity for public  

 2   comment on the agenda today.  What I would suggest  

 3   is at the conclusion of the testimony for this  

 4   panel, we can go ahead and have the panel  

 5   deliberations as listed in the agenda, move the  

 6   public comment period to the end, to make it more  

 7   closer in line in case folks show up.  They can also  

 8   file written comments. 

 9            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Fine. 

10            We're ready to go, Captain Boock. 

11            CAPTAIN BOOCK:  It's a pleasure to be here,  

12   have an opportunity to address the panel.  I  

13   provided a very long slide show which I'll move  

14   through quickly because I wanted to make sure I  

15   cover the topic areas that were addressed in the  

16   letter. 

17            Next slide.  Next slide, please. 

18            The first slide that I just went through is  

19   we are responsible for training not just Navy  

20   lawyers, Marine Corps lawyers, and Coast Guard  

21   attorneys, plus senior officers in the Navy and the  



22   Marine Corps.  This slide just shows -- go back  

23   one.  This slide just shows the general  

24   organization, justice school based in Newport, we  

25   have branch offices, detachments in San Diego,  
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 1   Norfolk branch office, and Charlottesville, and a  

 2   reserve unit that supports us.   

 3            Next slide, please.   

 4            This eye chart is the organization we have  

 5   in Newport for the Naval Justice School.  I provided  

 6   that because it shows you where the various  

 7   paygrades, civilian officer, and enlisted are  

 8   located opinion within the organization. 

 9            Next slide.   

10            It's a little easier, just shows the  

11   current manning at the Naval Justice School broken  

12   down between Newport, Norfolk, Charlottesville, and  

13   San Diego offices.  Broken down also between Navy  

14   and Marine Corps and Coast Guard. 

15            Next slide.   

16            This slide is one representation of the  

17   instruction that we provide at Naval Justice School,  

18   gives some short explanation about it.  Resident  

19   courses, those are the courses that are physically  

20   taught within the building in Newport at Naval  

21   Justice School, the overall numbers of people we  

22   instruct.  Fleet courses are the courses we teach at  

23   our detachments in San Diego and Norfolk.  And the  

24   Newport number are fleet courses we teach in other  

25   locations around the world using instructors from  
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 1   Newport, Rhode Island.  Those fleet courses are  

 2   predominantly to line officers and senior enlisted  

 3   nonlawyers, but there are some lawyer classes in  

 4   there, but they're predominantly nonlawyer classes,  

 5   got another fleet of courses.  The third area is  

 6   Newport out of house teaching, the 25,000 person  

 7   number, that reflects the instruction we do in  

 8   Newport outside of the school house for courses  

 9   like, the officer candidate school, officer  

10   development school, service warfare officer school,  

11   the Naval war college, senior enlisted academy,  

12   commander warship school, et cetera.   

13            Next slide.   

14            Lawyer accession, basic lawyer training.   

15   We do three courses a year now, it's ten weeks  

16   long.  The 150 number for fiscal year 10 is actually  

17   150 number for fiscal year 9.  I want to correct  

18   that.  Fiscal year number is 136.  Those reflect  

19   pretty consistent numbers between 135 to 150 to 160,  

20   depending upon the  year.  Roughly the numbers, and  

21   this fluctuates also, probably about two thirds  

22   Navy, one third Marine Corps.  And then we train a  



23   number of Coast Guard attorneys, but their numbers  

24   are fairly small, though this fiscal year we had 20  

25   of them.   
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 1            Next slide.   

 2            Legal accession, we do all the entry level  

 3   training for our legalman entry course.  One thing  

 4   it's important to know about this course is the  

 5   first half of the course is ABA certified for ten  

 6   college credits.  I raise that not to talk about the  

 7   ten college credits but this was a hidden task in  

 8   justice school when it came to lawyer instruction,  

 9   in order to have ABA certification, to get ABA  

10   accreditation for the course of instruction, you  

11   have to have it taught by attorneys.  So when we  

12   stood up this process, we increased the attorney  

13   instruction time significantly.   

14            Next slide.  Next slide.   

15            That's fine.  Go back one.   

16            Legal and paralegal education program.  I  

17   put this out here because, again have a requirement  

18   in the Navy that our legalmen all get associate's  

19   degree in paralegal studies.  It's a requirement.   

20   The requirement, I should say, is for certain skills  

21   that can only be satisfied through attaining that  

22   degree.  Which means for the first time in the Navy,  

23   the Navy is paying for college education for  

24   enlisted personnel and giving them time during the  

25   day to work on that college work either through  
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 1   distance learning, we have 81 enrolled at this time,  

 2   or in residence at Roger Williams, where we have 20  

 3   at this time on board working on their associates  

 4   degree.   

 5            Next slide.   

 6            Marine legal services, a few years back,  

 7   the Marine Corps moved their legal service  

 8   instruction up to Newport so it could be co-located  

 9   with the Naval justice school.  We train marine  

10   legal specialists.  These are younger marines  

11   straight out of boot camp.  Where in the legalmen  

12   world the legalmen are fleet returns, which means  

13   they're changing their rating in order to get a tour  

14   out in the fleet.  They also do the legal service  

15   court reporters.  Again, it's important to note the  

16   marine legal service specialists is sort of a hidden  

17   cost on the school because there is certain amount  

18   of lawyer instruction that takes place in the  

19   course.  The reason we have the course up there was  

20   to expose them to attorneys, have the attorneys  

21   teach the classes, and that was not really taken  

22   into account when the course was moved up. 

23            Next slide.   



24            Coast Guard, we train their legal  

25   technicians, not much of a burden.  Talk about the  
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 1   curriculum we do for basic lawyer, the basic lawyer  

 2   course.  I think it's probably self-evident, we do  

 3   legal assistance, basic admin law section.   

 4            Next slide. 

 5            Criminal law evidence.   

 6            Next slide.   

 7            Procedure, trial advocacy.  When you break  

 8   down the course, roughly four and a half weeks of a  

 9   ten-week course is spent on what we call military  

10   justice topics.  Things I've just gone through,  

11   evidence procedure, criminal law, and trial  

12   advocacy.  We find a large number of our attorneys  

13   have no trial experience even in law school.  So  

14   it's a time to give some basic trial advocacy, which  

15   is useful not in the practice of courts martial but  

16   in the admin board process, et cetera.   

17            Next slide, please.   

18            These are practical skills that we work on  

19   throughout the course.  We've done a significant  

20   curriculum review over the last couple of years,  

21   moving towards much less classroom instruction, much  

22   more hands on taking advantage of an attorney's  

23   ability to self-teach hands on instruction in small  

24   groups with practical exercises.  Again, not just  

25   geared towards military justice but geared across  
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 1   the gamut of the practice as a young judge  

 2   advocate.   

 3            Next slide.   

 4            Operational law curriculum, fairly new.   

 5   The basic lawyer course in the sense it hasn't been  

 6   around more than about five or six years.  We have a  

 7   week of instruction where we give them entry level  

 8   work on operational law.  Subject matter is up  

 9   there.  It's tends to be fluid because we change it  

10   as necessary to where the young lawyers are going  

11   to.  In the past, young judge advocates were not  

12   necessarily put in a position to very early on go  

13   into an operational environment where they have to  

14   make use of these skills.  That's changed because of  

15   Iraq and Afghanistan.  It's not uncommon for a young  

16   marine of the basic lawyer course to be deployed  

17   right away, and it's not uncommon for a Navy judge  

18   advocate to go within his first year to an IA.  So  

19   it's important to give them this course instruction  

20   early on in their career.   

21            Next slide, please.   

22            We have a number of specialized courses we  

23   offer at the Naval Justice School to address the  

24   need.  These courses can change on a yearly basis.   



25   At the end of my presentation, I'll talk about where  
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 1   we make these, how we make these changes.   

 2            These are the subject areas, civil law.  We  

 3   have legal assistance class we do.  The Army and the  

 4   Navy split the course load.  Army does one in the  

 5   fall, we do one in the spring.  The intent is we can  

 6   pick up all the Army and Navy attorneys who need  

 7   legal assistance work at that time.  The course is  

 8   really geared for legal assistance attorneys who  

 9   have been out of the basic course either at the Army  

10   or Navy school for about nine months or so because  

11   we know they go from the instruction and basic  

12   lawyer course out to the fleet, get some instruction  

13   out in the fleet, and come back and improve that  

14   instruction. 

15            We have a staff judge advocate course  

16   really geared toward the general practice of SJAs  

17   out in the fleet.  That's for the entry level SJA,  

18   the young officer who is going to his independent  

19   duty SJA job or a regional legal service office  

20   command services attorney who provides primarily SJA  

21   advice to commands who don't have an imbedded  

22   attorney.   

23            We just started and inaugurated an advanced  

24   SJA course, this is for SJAs at the four and three  

25   star level flag officers to raise the level  
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 1   sophistication of the presentation to those SJAs.   

 2   Talk about something like the Moreno issues, to give  

 3   an idea what we address in both the SJA and advanced  

 4   SJA courses and the post-trial process issues like  

 5   Moreno in those courses.   

 6            Operational law, that was one of the  

 7   interests in the panel.  In addition to the basic  

 8   operational law course, at the Naval justice school  

 9   we offer a number of courses including a course  

10   geared towards the Iraq and Afghanistan deployers,  

11   getting ready for real time, generally taught by  

12   people just returned from those AORs, very  

13   successful course.   

14            Law Naval operations, one of our historic  

15   courses.  It's a weeklong course geared folks who  

16   are going to do operations in a truly blue  

17   environment.   

18            Law military operations course.  This is  

19   much more of a joint military operations course.   

20   It's done with our coalition partners.  We generally  

21   get about 30 or more civilians, military, personnel  

22   from various nations around the world through  

23   command up in Newport in addition to Army, Navy, Air  

24   Force, and Marine Corps and Coast Guard officers  

25   attend this course.  Goes into the subject matter we  
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 1   teach along with the international law department at  

 2   Naval war college.  This goes into much greater  

 3   level of sophistication really geared toward  

 4   midgrade officers who already have some operational  

 5   law experience.   

 6            And we're doing an information operational  

 7   law training course.  Again, this is supposed to be  

 8   a midgrade course.  There are intralevel courses  

 9   that are now available through the Air Force,  

10   somewhat through the Army.  This is meant to take  

11   somebody from a more sophisticated level, and we've  

12   carved that out working with the Air Force and  

13   airmen.  I'll talk about how we work training  

14   educational and training differences with the other  

15   the services a little bit later on. 

16            Next slide.   

17            I know military justice is the focus on the  

18   questioning today.  The specialized courses we offer  

19   military justice have evolved significantly over the  

20   last five years, really significant over the last  

21   three years.  Walking through the level of training  

22   for judge advocates in their continuum in the  

23   military justice practice, trying to line up with  

24   the creation of the military justice career path as  

25   we now have started to populate that career path,  
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 1   and we start to get attorneys who are getting  

 2   greater levels sophistication, it's important for us  

 3   to offer courses that train at that greater level of  

 4   sophistication.   

 5            The biggest challenge we have in this area  

 6   to date has probably been getting enough lawyers at  

 7   the greater level of sophistication to adequately  

 8   populate the courses.  We still find some attorneys  

 9   who are not quite sophisticated enough for that will  

10   turn up at a course.  That will get better as we get  

11   more lawyers in the career path.   

12            The ability to put on these courses, and I  

13   can provide the panel with more detailed explanation  

14   of the courses outside the testimony today.  The  

15   ability to put on these courses is dependent upon  

16   our ability to bring in experts.  I do not have on  

17   board Naval justice school the level sophistication  

18   to teach prosecuting complex cases.  I have a couple  

19   people who can teach parts of the course because  

20   they do have that expertise.  But I'm dependent upon  

21   bringing in people really outside the military, from  

22   justice department, private practice, state's  

23   attorney's office, public defender, et cetera, we go  

24   around the country to bring in people that have that  

25   level of sophistication, and we've been very  
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 1   fortunate, I'll say because of patriotism, people  

 2   are willing to come for a plane ticket to Newport,  

 3   which is not a bad thing, to get some very well  

 4   qualified people to teach at a high level of  

 5   sophistication these various offerings.  Like I  

 6   said, it's just getting the experience of our  

 7   students to the level of instruction provided in  

 8   these courses. 

 9            We also provide a certain degree of  

10   paralegals out there in addition to what we do at  

11   the Roger Williams program and the ABA accredited  

12   program. 

13            Next slide.   

14            We do train also our reserve judge  

15   advocates to provide refresh training and our  

16   reserve unit put on their training symposiums on the  

17   east and west coast every year. 

18            Next slide, please. 

19            We also do professional development  

20   training leadership training symposium for our newly  

21   minted midgrade officers in force.  It is part  

22   professional development, part substantive  

23   training.  We also do a course for prospective  

24   commanding officers, from the perspective of  

25   executive officers.  On the level of that course we  
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 1   also address things like post-trial processing  

 2   because these are the folks that are going out to  

 3   run the regional legal service offices, so they're  

 4   going to be working with post-trial processing  

 5   issues, work with both Colonel Collins' folks to  

 6   come up and provide instruction during those  

 7   professional development courses.  We also talk  

 8   about Moreno and the leadership training symposium  

 9   courses so these folks can have an experience we  

10   sometimes see or don't see if people are being  

11   assigned.   

12            Next. 

13            The fleet training courses I talked about.   

14   Something that takes up a great deal of time at the  

15   Naval Justice School we teach 32 offerings around  

16   the world of senior officers, primarily in Norfolk,  

17   San Diego, Newport, and Pensacola, but we do it  

18   around the world.  These are courses geared at O5  

19   O6, line officers to raise their level of  

20   understanding of the various legal challenges they  

21   might have, from military justice, including  

22   post-trial process, sentencing issues, convening  

23   authority, ethics, government ethics, and even  

24   operational law issues, physical law issues,  

25   environmental law issues, et cetera, and we do those  

0164 

 1   32 times a year.   



 2            Legal officer course, we offer 17 times a  

 3   year in Norfolk and San Diego split between the two,  

 4   those are for nonlawyer officers in those  

 5   locations.  We have a lot of commands in the Navy  

 6   and the Marine Corps that don't have an attorney  

 7   imbedded, and they've a lot of legal work that needs  

 8   to be worked through including the military justice  

 9   side of the house.  Those are the course offerings  

10   where we train those young officers to be able to  

11   perform an administrative practice at those commands  

12   that don't have an attorney. 

13            We have the senior enlisted officer course  

14   that really sort of the senior enlisted mirror  

15   version of the senior officer course for master  

16   chiefs, senior chiefs, master sergeants, et cetera,  

17   in the Navy and Marine Corps. 

18            Legal clerk course is for young enlisted  

19   yeoman types, administrative types, rating types who  

20   are performing legal processing at commands that  

21   don't have legalmen on board, much like our law  

22   school courses.   

23            I talked about these are the type of  

24   schools we teach also at the law school at Newport.   

25            Next slide. 
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 1            Law review.   

 2            Next slide, please.   

 3            Postgraduate instruction within the Navy, I  

 4   think this information's been provided to the panel  

 5   already, but I included it in here because when we  

 6   talk about taking, say, the operational law training  

 7   to a higher level sophistication than we offer at  

 8   the law military operations course.  Primarily that  

 9   is achieved through the postgraduate position that  

10   we engage in in sending our folks to civilian  

11   institutions.  I think it's fair to say the same  

12   thing is true for environmental law.  It provides a  

13   unique opportunity for our military justice experts  

14   and specialists in the trial advocacy programs, and  

15   we take advantage of the LLM program at the Army JAG  

16   school which still today provides one of the great  

17   LLM programs for somebody who's going to work in  

18   military service. 

19            Next slide.   

20            These are just numbers through 2011.  I  

21   believe that if we want to provide this level of  

22   education at that highest level to all the officers  

23   in the JAG corps, we need roughly about 30 a year  

24   post-graduate spots between civilian and the Army  

25   JAG school.  I'd have to check to verify that to  
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 1   make sure that number is correct, but it's not far  

 2   off. 



 3            Next slide. 

 4            Next slide. 

 5            These are the schools that we send our  

 6   folks to.  Use of civilian institutions on the  

 7   operational law side is critical.  It allows our  

 8   officers to interact with folks who think  

 9   differently.  That sometimes can sound corny, but  

10   it's important when you work in that world, if  

11   you're going to work operational law issues on a  

12   strategic level, you have to have a strategic view  

13   of things, and we send officers to all these  

14   institution for international law.  These are ones  

15   we've used in the last five years. 

16            Next slide.   

17            Environmental law and trial advocacy, these  

18   are the schools we use.   

19            Next slide.   

20            Joint opportunities.  Where do we train  

21   outside what the Navy does, what we do through the  

22   Naval Justice School.  The primary vehicle for  

23   coordinating these opportunities is the inter-service  

24   legal education review committee.  Recently just had  

25   the latest, the last meeting of this up in Newport  
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 1   where we hosted the Army and Air Force JAG schools.   

 2   We get together twice a year to formally meet to  

 3   deconflict our course offerings to ensure that we're  

 4   not -- we don't have redundancy in the system, that  

 5   we're not offering the same level of instruction.   

 6   Recent history it's worked quite well because in a  

 7   time of constricting resources and money, we're all  

 8   looking for places where we can combine courses and  

 9   course offerings so we don't have, you know,  

10   20 people and three courses when we can put 60  

11   persons in one course in that sense. 

12            Next slide. 

13            These are the type of benefits the Navy  

14   gets out of this.  Example here, courses that we  

15   send folks to at the Army JAG school, some of which  

16   we don't have offer like legal assistants course, we  

17   offer one a year, they offer one a year.  We  

18   discussed at this most recent meeting of this work,  

19   the Navy pick up the rule of law course because we  

20   have a little room on the schedule to offer that,  

21   that's the nature of what we do, and we take  

22   advantage of the Army courses and the Air Force  

23   courses to a great deal to get the training we don't  

24   offer ourselves in the Navy.   

25            Next slide.   
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 1            This is an example of the Air Force courses  

 2   that we sent folks to. 

 3            Next slide.   



 4            I pulled this out because the operational  

 5   law training question.  I already addressed the  

 6   short courses offered by the Navy.  Really trades up  

 7   to the intermediate level with the law military  

 8   operations course, higher level of instruction is  

 9   found through the PG school program.  We also send  

10   judge advocates to get to the Naval war college.  We  

11   have only three spots, two for the JPME one, and we  

12   send now people on a regular basis through the  

13   maritime staff operator's course, which is a  

14   five-week course which prepares officers to go to  

15   joint staffs or staffs that work in a joint  

16   environment that have not otherwise been to the  

17   Naval war college or one of the other war colleges  

18   to get their JPME requirement. 

19            Next slide.   

20            MS. MILLER:  Let me ask a quick question.   

21   Does that also include cyber defense?   

22            CAPTAIN BOOCK:  Our information operations  

23   course, ma'am, does not -- you're more likely going  

24   to get that through the cyber law course that the  

25   Air Force would offer.  We don't get into cyber  
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 1   defense to a great degree in that course.  It could  

 2   evolve to that point, but we haven't done it to  

 3   date. 

 4            Okay.  Not a lot of funding lines.  Money  

 5   is kind of a good news story in the training world,  

 6   to a degree.  My mission funds from the Navy come  

 7   via the education training command from OPNAV one.   

 8   Last year I had $1.2 million.  That pays for those  

 9   core courses, the basic legal lawyer course, legal  

10   accession course, senior officer course, legal  

11   officer course, legal clerk course, senior enlisted  

12   course, paid for my single biggest cost item,  

13   civilian pay, and pays for certain amounts of  

14   facilities and equipment upgrades, all the stuff  

15   that if you shook the building, it would fall out of  

16   the building.  Hidden costs, if you shake the  

17   building, it doesn't fall off.  Commander Naval  

18   installations command pays that.  Roughly runs about  

19   $300,000 a year.  This last year would have been  

20   $500,000.  If you want to talk about the cost of  

21   running the basic school, you can add $300,000 onto  

22   that, so $1.5 million.   

23            Next slide.   

24            We're also given through a funding line  

25   that goes through judge advocate general from OPNAV,  
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 1   $1.2 million, which is simply management training  

 2   funds.  This pays for all the specialty courses,  

 3   provides for one civilian salary position, which  

 4   helps me manage that fund, provides for certain  



 5   other training opportunities for the judiciary,  

 6   allows me to send people to other courses that  

 7   weren't listed because there could be a course  

 8   offered in a locale, national district, anything  

 9   could be done at the justice school down in  

10   South Carolina, could be a course offered anywhere  

11   in the United States where we want to send one our  

12   judge advocates, I can fund that out of this pot of  

13   money on a yearly basis. 

14            Next slide. 

15            RTA funds, kind of like CMTF funds except  

16   they get laundered through the -- they get funneled  

17   through a number of regional training authorities  

18   who can control this money themselves.  That way  

19   they don't have to go mother may I to me in order to  

20   get their people trained.  I do the bookkeeping on  

21   it, I provide the oversight to it, I provide certain  

22   business roles to it, but at the end of the day I  

23   don't tell them how to use it.  This will allow our  

24   regional training facility in Norfolk to pay to send  

25   somebody to something that might be offered locally  
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 1   in the Norfolk to train their attorneys.  It would  

 2   also allow them to send them anyplace in the world  

 3   for training if they thought it was necessary.   

 4   Gives that local commander a great deal of  

 5   authority, and those funds are divided up based on a  

 6   head count of Navy judge advocates.  And civilian  

 7   employees, enlisted personnel, because it's meant  

 8   not just for lawyers but for enlisted personnel and  

 9   officers. 

10            If you talk about the CMTF fund I don't  

11   need to go back to the slide.  If we meet our target  

12   for next year, we would fund over 420 lawyers,  

13   civilian personnel, and enlisted personnel in  

14   various training evolutions in the course of the  

15   year with that CMTF.  It's a pretty robust pot of  

16   money to train a lot of people in the Navy JAG. 

17            $35,000 a year help support the reserves.   

18            Next slide. 

19            Last couple of years we've gotten some  

20   special allocations to deal with sexual assault,  

21   prosecution training.  In addition, we've spent some  

22   extra money to keep equity in the system to train  

23   our defense counsels.  This money is no guarantee  

24   it'll be back next year, but my suspicion is we'll  

25   have a certain amount of money.   
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 1            Next slide.   

 2            This is the only money I get for the Marine  

 3   Corps, I get $75,000 out of my $4 million I got last  

 4   year, came from the Marine Corps to help support  

 5   legal service specialist training up in Newport.  I  



 6   smile when I have to say that, 75,000 out of the  

 7   4 million; however, it's very useful money because  

 8   some of it does go to benefit my school because  

 9   we've rewired some courtrooms and done some good  

10   things up in Newport with that. 

11            Next slide. 

12            I'll stop on this slide and then take any  

13   questions and go back and talk.  I think there is  

14   some interest in the idea of manning a school, also,  

15   that I went through pretty quickly. 

16            The justice school, I'm the commanding  

17   officer of the Naval Justice School but I answer in  

18   a very real sense to a board of directors, which is  

19   the board of advisors for the Naval Justice School.   

20   It's chaired by the deputy judge advocate general of  

21   the Navy.  The SJA's commandant is a member of that  

22   board of advisors.  The two gentlemen sitting next  

23   to me are members of that board of advisors.  I've  

24   got the rest that are up there. 

25            At the meeting of advisors the curriculum  
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 1   is set for the following fiscal year, meets every  

 2   July, set for the fiscal year the courses we're  

 3   going to offer, new courses we're going to offer,  

 4   review curriculum for those new courses, allocation  

 5   of funding, all the various funds that I just talked  

 6   about are allocated during that staff meeting, and  

 7   the folks that are present there are represented on  

 8   that slide.  We do have Marine Corps and Coast Guard  

 9   representation, as I say. 

10            That's me going through the slides at a  

11   very rapid pace.  To answer questions, I could ask  

12   if there's questions.  I guess one of the questions  

13   is staffing at the Naval Justice School and where we  

14   are.  I think that's come up previously. 

15            The CNA study -- 

16            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Please stand by.   

17   We're going to excuse Ms. Miller, who has a previous  

18   commitment, so if that's okay with Frank, do we have  

19   any formality associated with that?   

20            MR. PUTZU:  No, sir.  We still have a  

21   quorum. 

22            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Very good.  One  

23   second. 

24            CAPTAIN BOOCK:  Yes, sir. 

25            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Let's continue. 
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 1            CAPTAIN BOOCK:  All right, sir.  Naval  

 2   Justice School and I made mention of it in passing  

 3   in some of these slides, is we've collected a larger  

 4   number of course offerings than we've had its  

 5   history, and we've also changed the course offerings  

 6   like the accession class where we have the attorneys  



 7   instruct that class.  We've added collocated the  

 8   legal specialist course which requires attorney  

 9   instruction also.  And so the issue has come up  

10   about manning the school.   

11            My opinion, based on the two and a half  

12   years I've been there, taking into account the CNA  

13   study but taking into account the review of podium  

14   time and course offerings we have at the school is  

15   that the justice school right now is not adequately  

16   manned or appropriately manned for work we do, we're  

17   getting the work done.  When I was asked recently  

18   about this question within the context of the Navy,  

19   my response to that, if I were to increase the  

20   manning at the justice school, this is what I have  

21   been working on through the Navy system is to  

22   increase manning by three officers, instructors, and  

23   three civilian positions, so six people on the Navy  

24   side.  The three officers would be instructors, the  

25   civilian positions would be a civilian academic  
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 1   director, somebody in the IT shop, and somebody as a  

 2   budget analyst or to help coordinate, do  

 3   administrative work for the courses. 

 4            The most pressing need of those six billets  

 5   on the Navy side would be the civilian academic  

 6   director.  The one thing the justice school does not  

 7   have is a senior civilian providing continuity or  

 8   education expertise at the school to assist the  

 9   Navy, the Marine Corps, the Coast Guard in the  

10   training that we do at the school. 

11            On the Marine Corps side of the house, I  

12   think we're undermanned on the Marine Corps side.   

13   One thing we need on the Marine Corps side is we  

14   need a senior marine.  We need an O5 marine to be  

15   stationed at the justice school.  Right now I have  

16   two majors and four captains.  Both my majors are  

17   brand new, both my majors are recent.  I have two  

18   Navy O5s at the justice school right now.  I really  

19   could use an O5 marine to work on the relationship  

20   with the Marine Corps, to make sure that we are  

21   providing the right supervision when it comes to  

22   reporting senior, reviewing officer Marine Corps  

23   troops at the school, and we have not had a  

24   permanent O5 at the Naval Justice School for, I'd  

25   say, about 15, 16 years, since the last time we had  

0176 

 1   executive officer at the justice school, that was an  

 2   O5.  In addition, we could use two other Marine  

 3   Corps instructors, because the marines are roughly  

 4   one third of my instruction when you count heads in  

 5   the school house in Newport or heads in my  

 6   detachment in San Diego, and the, I have no marine  

 7   in San Diego at the detachment, despite the large  



 8   marine presence in San Diego, the courses that  

 9   offered there, and I don't have quite an adequate  

10   instructor load at the justice school either for the  

11   Marine Corps students that we have. 

12            That said, we're able to teach the classes  

13   we've got with the people we've got right now. 

14            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Who teaches your rules  

15   of engagement?   

16            CAPTAIN BOOCK:  I have a three-person  

17   operations in a department, and I have in that  

18   department two Naval officers and one Marine Corps  

19   officer.  The department, experience wise, they're  

20   all O4s, the Naval officer is recently from Seals  

21   where he worked that in his portfolio.  My Marine  

22   Corps officer has an Iraq deployment under his belt,  

23   my Naval officer is an LLM from JAG School.  So they  

24   teach that level of instruction, sir, at the basic  

25   operational law training level.  When we raise the  
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 1   level of sophistication of the course, and we're  

 2   doing it in Newport, we often call upon the folks  

 3   from Professor Mandsager's international law  

 4   department at the Naval war college to help us  

 5   teach.  Last couple of years it might have been  

 6   myself too because of my own particular background  

 7   in the area, taking advantage of it or we bring  

 8   people in from either headquarters Marines or Code  

 9   10 in the Navy or from the combatant commands.  One  

10   of the things we do, I made mention of it in the  

11   military justice world, but we take advantage of it  

12   in the off law world, and I don't have the level of  

13   education or experience in this school to teach the  

14   class, we bring people from outside the class to  

15   teach that coursework.  When we teach the military  

16   operation course in addition to using Professor  

17   Mandsager's folks at the war college, we bring  

18   outside instructors in from the combatant commands,  

19   and we have the benefit also to expand people's  

20   horizons by bringing folks down from Harvard,  

21   et cetera, to speak to students. 

22            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Do you, and I mean  

23   you as the JAG corps, exercise curriculum autonomy,  

24   or do you have to get your curriculum screened by  

25   chief of Naval education training people?   
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 1            CAPTAIN BOOCK:  We have curriculum autonomy  

 2   at the Naval Justice school because we're a echelon  

 3   three commander.  Under JAG we don't, my money, my  

 4   mission funds go via NTSC from the OPNAV N1, but  

 5   that's only for bookkeeping purposes.  Curriculum  

 6   development is worked with JAG which provides a  

 7   greater latitude in curriculum changes.   

 8            One exception at the school where I don't  



 9   have autonomy would be the Marine Corps legal  

10   service specialists and legal specialist court  

11   reporting course because Marine Corps TECHOM owns  

12   the curriculum in those two areas, but they have  

13   also funded a curriculum development in those areas  

14   for those courses.  That's the only area where I  

15   don't own the curriculum. 

16            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Shifting for just  

17   a second, do you still go through the yearly or  

18   every other year study mandated by Congress on  

19   consolidation of the schools? 

20            CAPTAIN BOOCK:  Well, we have not done a  

21   study recently, sir.  I will say that the issue  

22   comes up in discussion on a regular basis.  But no,  

23   I have not seen any formal study since I've been at  

24   the Naval Justice School. 

25            REAR ADMIRAL McPHERSON:  Okay. 
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 1            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Questions for the  

 2   panel?  From anybody? 

 3            All right.  Thanks, gentlemen for appearing  

 4   today.  We appreciate your attendance and the  

 5   information you provided.  Thank you, very much. 

 6            We'll take a break while we move onto the  

 7   public comment and deliberation, should we have any. 

 8            (Pause in proceedings.) 

 9            MR. PUTZU:  Mr. Chairman, we're ready to  

10   resume.   

11            The last two items on the agenda are panel  

12   deliberations and public comment.  I have not  

13   received any inquiries from any members of the  

14   public to speak today, do not anticipate we will get  

15   any.  Of course, they're free the write comments.   

16   Suggest, just because we are early, we'll defer that  

17   to the end to close it formally. 

18            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  All right.  Anything  

19   we need to discuss among the panel today?  Any  

20   things coming out of this session that we need to  

21   ask for by way of additional witnesses or further  

22   information?  I think we left a few questions on the  

23   table for folks to get back us to with, and we'll  

24   ask the staff to follow up with.   

25            Beyond that, I don't know that we heard  
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 1   anything that spurred any controversy or reason for  

 2   further discussion. 

 3            Staff have any suggestions of things that  

 4   we need to dispose of here today? 

 5            MR. McGREGOR:  No, sir. 

 6            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  All right.  Frank,  

 7   anything else before we adjourn for the day?   

 8            MR. PUTZU:  No, sir.  Just note for the  

 9   transcript we have another hearing scheduled and  



10   noticed for next Wednesday, October 13th, beginning  

11   at 8:30 a.m. 

12            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  We're here in this  

13   location? 

14            MR. PUTZU:  Yes. 

15            CHAIRMAN DELL'ORTO:  Thank you for your  

16   assistance today.  We'll move out and be prepared to  

17   gather again in one week.  Thank you.   

18            (Whereupon the proceedings  

19            adjourned at 3:32 p.m.) 

20                          -o0o- 

21    

22    

23    

24    

25    
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